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v. 
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Michael P. Frazer, 
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I. IDENTITY DF PETITI □ NER 

Petitioner, Michael P. Frazer, ore se resp ectfully 

requests tho 5uprems Court of Washington a:ceot review of 
the Court of Qppeals Divis ion Two neci~ion 

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISI'W 

Petitioner is seekino review of the Court of Apoeals 

unpublished opinion in State v. Frazer, No,5592B-5-II 

filed October 11. 202'2. See Ooinian in Attacnmant D. 

On October 11 ,2022 Division Two filed an unpublished 

opinion affirming Mr. Frazers convictions of second degree 

assault, felony harass'llent, and nine counts of 2 no-contact 

order holding that (1) Frazer cannot establish ineffective 

assistance of counsel based on defense counsel's failure to 

object to the testimony of two officers and the victi~ 

advocate ragarding Gonrady's out-of-court stateme~ts or to 

the prosecutor 's aggressive examination of Conrady; ( 2) 

there was sufficient e vidence to prove Frazer had knowledne 

of the no-contact order and thersfor 0 he ~as willfully 
violated the no-contact order ; (3) Frazer's ch 3ll enges to 

his convictions and his sentence in his statement of 

additional grounds (SAG) cannot be considers~ because they 

rely on alle9etions outside the record, were addres~ed in 
apoellate counsel's bri~f, or have no merit. 
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III. ISSUES PRESENTED FDR REVIEW 

ISSUE 1 
Should this court remana for a new trial due to ineff&ctive 
assist~nce ~f ~ounsel, wnen dRfense counsel failed to object 
to inadmissible heArsav statements by Keri Conrady, without 
whlc~ there would ~ave been little t~ no evidance of the 
crimes . 

ISSUE 2 
Did the trial court err, when the trial court based its 
finding of quilt of the no-contact order violations on a 
finding not suoported by any evidence that supoort a findinq 
of guilt beyont a r,asonable doubt. 

IV . STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Frazer W?s charqPd on Seotember 29 . 2020 with Kidnaop inq in 

the First Decree , Assault in the Second Degree, Fe lony 

Harassment, and Th eft of a Motor Vehicle. CP1-5. Later that 

day, a Domestic Violence No-Con~act Order was enter ed , 

pronibitinq Frazer from having any contact with Conrady , CP 

R, Frazer di~ not sign the order. CP B. In place of Frazer ' s 

signature the order state~, "Defenoant unable to siqn: covid 

1g•• . CP 8 . At the bench trial, the State did not present a ny 

evioence reqarding antrv of the order, service of the order 

3n Frazer, or the meaning of the notation on the orcer . n.1 

1. Th e ver~atlm reports ~ill ~e referenced the same manner 
as statPd on page 5 of briefs of apoellant No. 55928-S-II . 
Anrl all exhibits and at~achements will ~P rPferenced from 
rhe brief or Rtatem2nt nf additional □ rounds ~A~ . 
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While in jail, Frazer spoke on the ohone with Conrady no 

fe we r than nine times. 4RP 332-35. 

Shortly before trial, the State amended the information to 

add nine counts of violation of a no-contAct order and one 

count of witness tamperino. CP44-55. At the conclusion of 

the trial, the trial court found Frazer guilty of assaul t , 

felony harassment, and the nine counts of violating the no ­

contact orcer but found him not quiltv of kidnaoping, motor 

vehic l e the ft, and witness tamoering . CP 1?9-39 

The trial court sentenced Frazer to 70 mon th ~ on the 

assault charge 60 months on the felony harrasment charge . 

Frazer ' s (disputed) offender score for two felonies was 

greatly increased by the nine invalid convictions for 

violating the no-contact order CP 89-90 . The trial court 

imposed a sentence of 364 days with credit f~r 200 days 

served for the no-contact violations. 

V. ARGUMENT 

Frazer received in~ffective as5i~tance of counsel, which 

greatly prejudiced his defense . most strikingly counsel 

failed to object to inadmissib l e hearsay from multiple 

witnesses, with~ut which there would have been no evi dence 

that a crime occurred. This court should acce~t review and 

reverse the assault and felony harr asment convictions and 
remand for a new trlal . 
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Additional l y , there was insuffi c ient evidence to find 

beyond a reaRonable doubt that Frazer had the required 

knowledge of the no-contact ordRr. This court sho u ld accept 

r eview and reverse and vacate the convictions for violation 

of the no - contact oroer . Because these convictions impacted 

the qffender score calcu l ation for felony counts, if those 

counts are not reversed , the Court should re~and for 

resentencing with a corrected offender score , 

A. INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL 

Frazer ' s Brief of Appe l lant summarized the legal standard 

for a claim of ineffective ~sslstance of coun5el . Br . of 

App . 1 7-19. Jn addition to the two prongs of the Strickland 

test, Strickland v . Washington, 465 U.S . 668,687 (1984), a 

defendant basing a cl ~im of ineffective assistance on 

counsel ' s failure to object must also demonstrate that an 

objection would likely have s ucceded . See Br . of App . 18 

(citing State v . Vazquez, 198 Wn . 2d 239,248, 494 P . 3d 424 
( 2IJ21 ) ) . 

Accordinq to Vazquez, "lf defense counsel falls to object 

to inadmissible evidence , then they hav 0 oerformed 

deficiently . . . • Vazquez , 19R Wn . 2d at 24R. If e vide nce 

central to the state ' s case was inadmis1ible , an objection 
would l i kely have succeeded, and there could be no 

legitimate strategic or tactical reason for fai l ing to 

object . See Id . With deficient performance or ang 

estahlished , •revers a l is requiredf if the defendant can 

show that the result woul d likely have been different 

witho ut inadmissible e vidence . '' Id . at 248 - 4° . 
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Because Conrady's hearsay statements , central to the 

state ' s case aqainst Frazer, were inadmissble for thier 

substance, there wa s no legitimate strategic reason for 

counsel not to object. Her performance was deficient. Had 

she successfully object ed , the r emai ning evidence of the 

crimes would hav e been insuffici~nt to support conviction 

beyond a reasonable doubt . This Court should accept review 

and re vers e the convictions a nd remand for a new trial. 

I. Couns el was ineffective in failing to ob ject to the he a r s ay 
testimony of Katie Daugh erty . 

Defense counsel was ineffecti v 9 in failino to object to 

the hearsay testimony of Katia Daugherty . 4RP 271-79. The 

state called victim advocate, Katie Deuohtery , with the 

apscific purpose of relating hearsay statements ~ade by 

Conrady. ~ecause no heorsay e xceptions apoli9d to any of 

this t est imony, it was all inadmisai ble , ye t defe nse coun s e l 

allowed it all to come in without objection, severely 

undermining Frazer ' s oefense . Even if Daugherty ' s testimony 

was aomissible for purooses of impeachme nt, i t could not be 

used as subs+antive e vi dence to support conviction . See 

State v. Clinke nb~ard, 13 D Wn . App . 55 ?. , 569-70 (20 05 ). 

Because the testimony wen t to t he h eart of the state ' s case 

against Frazer and wa s inadmissibl e for its substa nce, 

defense coun se l was def icient in failing ta o bj ect and 

ens ur e the testimony was only used for impeachment . 
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The state argued that the testimony was admissible as 

impeachment, but this does not excuse defense counsel's 

failure to object . To the contrary, it makes failure to 

object even worse . Recause these statements were admissible 

as impeachment, it was clear that Conrady ' s teeti~ony on the 

stand was ooing to be worth l ess . Her credibility woul d be 

destroyed by impeachment evidence . The defense theory that 

Conrady had fabricated and exaggerat~d her prior statements 
due to being high on meth or ''hysterical'' wou ld be 

completely under~ined by t he fact that she corroborated 

those o r ior statements ta counsel ~s truth just minutes 

before taking the stand . WLth□ut being able to rely on 

Conrady ' s testimony , the only r ea sonabl e strateoy for 

def~nse counsel was to exclude as much substantive evidence 

of the crimes as possible . Counsel n eeded to ob j ect to 

Daugherty's testimony being aom ited or used for its 
substance . Counsel failed rrazer . 

The state claimed that Dauqherty ' s testimony was not 

admited or used for lts substance, bu t this claim is not 

s upported by the record . The prosecutor ' s c l o ~l ng argument 

did not distinguish be t ween impeachment and substantive 

va luse . 4RP 371J =79 . The prosecutor related, in detail, the 

h~arsa y statements as relayed by Daugher ty, as the state's 

versi on of what happened that night . 4RP 379 . The prosecutor 

never said that t h is testimony wes only for impeachment 
purpose s . 
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The trial judge also did not 3xc lude the substanti ve va lu • 

o f Daugherty's hearney testimony . J n assessing Conrady 1 s 

cradibilitv , the juage mad ~ no mnntion of using DauQhe•tv's 

testimony as impeachment. 5RP 417-18 . But the judae oio 

refer ta "Ms . Conrady's version of what occurred'' -- likely 

a r eference ta Daugherty ' s testimony (such as Dauqher~y ' s 

false s 4 atement that Co nr ady had ~cratc hes and road rash on 

her body 4RP at ?7~) , which contained the most comolete 

description of events -- being corroborated by the 911 

calls, t he jail calls , her intervi ew with Holznaq s l, and t,er 

statements to Anrlerson . 5RP 41R-1q. If all of these other 

thi ngs are corroborating "Ms . Conrady's version of wh~t 

occured,'' then the only thing 18ft that +he iudoe could have 

be~n r eferr ing to as "Ms. Conraa y ' s vers i on" was her 

stateme nts to counsel overheard by Daugherty. The trial 

court us~d Daugh?rty ' s tesTimony for substance -- Ms . 
Conr ady ' s version of what occurred" -- not as impeachme nt. 

It was esse ntial fo r defense counsel to l i mit the use of 

Dauoherty ' s testimony to impeachment only. If defense 

counsel wou ld hava objecteo, Daugher.ty ' s , testimon y cou l o 

have been excl uded Antirely 

impa achmAnt onl y . With aucn 
or at least limiteo to 

a ruling i n 

court woul d have limited i1s use of the 
mind , the trial 

testimony. The trial 
court sti ll would have found Conr adv ' s testimo ny on the 

stand not credible, but it would not have relied on t he 

Daughertv testimony for its suhstanc e . ThP s ub stantive 

e v idenc e of the c rimes would have harl to comP from 

e lsewhere . This Court shou l d find that 1efense cou nse l was 

ineffecti ve a nci shoul d reverse The assau l t and fe l o~y 
har1ssme~t conviction s . 
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;)_, Counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the hea rsay 
testimony relate1 by Deputy Holznaoe l . 

Defense coun9el was ineffective for failing to objact to 

hearsay testimony re l ated by Deouty Holznaoel . 4RP ~R9-~39 . 

Conrady ' s ~tatements to Holznagel did not meet the ••e~cited 

utterance" e xception to t ,e hearsay rule and the stPte 

failcj to lay a ~uffici~nt foundation for such a fin ~inq . 

It ' s not an excit~d utterence if ~he statement coulo have 

~een the r~sult or fabrication, intervening events , or the 

exercise of cho ice or judgment . Stata v. Hochhalter, 131 

liln . App . 'i06, 'i14 ( 2006) . Ry the time Conrady spoka to 

Holznagel, it ~ad alreadv been mars than two hours since 

Conrady had • xi ted the vehicl~ Frazer was dri ving. 3RP 1q 2_ 

g3 , 4RP 29E . The two hours between Conrady ex~iting the 

vehicl e ano her interview with HolznBqel had giv~n her amole 

tim~ to collect her thouohts and t~ll a story bssed on 

''reflection or se lf-interest '' r ather than "a soontaneou~ and 

sincere response" to shocking e vents . State v. Rro wn 127 

Wn . 2d 74Y,75R (1g g5} , Even though Conrady was •unset, 

quiet , " and cr ie d twice, she was able to t~ll a detailed end 

complete story, indicating she was no longer unde r the 

startling influence of e vents and therefore not making an 

''excit ed utterance" as contenolated by the hear9ay 

exception . 

The only foun dation lai d by the state for an excited 

utterance was that Sonrady ''was uoset, quiet,• and tnat she 

cried on two occasions whil~ soPeklng wlth Holsnagc l , Both 

occasions were highly emotional moments of Conrady's story, 

in wh ich she assert~d that she ''wasn ' t supposed to make it 

out that car aliv1,• 4RP ~18 , and t~at the person in the 

otner car saveQ her life, 4RP 319-20 . Her tears c oul~ have 

just as 8~si ly heP.n fAbricated a ~ the rest of her meth 

induced ~tory . In fact, Conrady tesrifiP.d that wha t 5he told 

l aw snforcPment •h~t morning waq All a fabrication . E. g ., 
3RP218,219. 
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The detail with whish Conradv was abl• to t~ll her 9tor y 

of the night's events reflects the fact t,at she was no 

l □naer under the 9tert l ino influ·ncc of the incident. "A 
declaront who is ab l e to qive a □3talled and complete 

description of an event is oivinq a narrative of a pest 

compl1ted affair . This suggests he ~~s haj time to collect 

his thoughts and fahricate, if tnat suits his ourpose . " 

State v. Sallars , J9 Wn . Al□• 799,~04 (1 9B5 ). 

The crux of the test for excited utterance, was n~t 

astablis~e□ nere, ''whath•r the statement was made while the 

declarant was under the infl uence of the e vent, so that her 

statement could not be the result of f Rbrication , 

intervening actions , or other manifestation o f judgmen t . • 

Fleminq ?7 Wn.App . ~t G56 (''it must be made at such time 3nd 

under such circumstances as will exclude the presumotion 

that 1t is the result of dPl iberation ' ). This standard 

place• the burden on the state to provid~ suffi cient 

f oundat i on to exclude the oos&ibility that t he statement was 

the r~s ul t of de li~~ration or fabrication . It W?.s not 

Frazgr's hurr en to ~r o ve fabrication ; it was t he state ' s 

burden to prove that the fttatements could not have been the 

resul t of fabrication or deliberation . Ths sta t e failed to 

do so . 
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The state ~ay argue that defens 0 counsel made a strategic 

choice to allow t h s statements in hut s~ek to undermine them 

through Conracy's testimony th~t she had been high on meth 

t hat night, was not inner ripht mind, and had fa~ricatea 

facts due to her drug fuel~d oaranois . But where the ,tate 

waa un~~ls to prove a suffl~iant foundetion for an Pxcited 

utterence axceotion , the st•tPments were inadmis,iblA . TherR 

was no legitim 0 te strategic reason not to ohj 0 ct. The 

statements were so damaging to Frazer ' s defense that to 

allow them in practic a lly guar~nteed a conviction . Ta th• 

e xtent defense counsel may have been making a strategic 

cnoice, it was not a raAs □nable one , 

In thP contAxt of an ineffective assistance claim , the 

question i9 not whether th• trial court abused its 

discretion ; rather, it is whether it is li~ely that an 

abjection co~ld he ve succeeded . The state ' s failure to ley a 

sufficient foundation to ovarcome the oresumption of 

fabrication or delioeration made it likelv that a ti mely 

objection to Holznagel ' s hearsay testimony could have 

succeeded . Dafen;e counsel was deficient for not abjecting 

and greatly prejudiced Frazar . This court should find that 

counsel was ineffective and shoul1 reverse the assault and 

harre$sment c~nvictions. 

PETI TION FJP DISCRETIONARY R~VI~hf -1~-



Counsel was ineff•ctive for failing to nbject to the hearsay 
testimony of Deputy Rrandt . 

Defense coun sel was ineffective for failing to object to 

hearsay te stimony of D~puty r r a ndt 3~P 189-206. It was 

reasonably lik e ly that an ojjection could hav~ s ucceeded . 

Although tne state's foundation for an e xcited utterance 

was stronqer for ~r a ndt'n testimony than it was Holznaoal's, 

it still did not excludP the oossibil ity that Conrady ' s 

statements were t he result of fabri cation or deliberation . 

Conredy ' s story of whet hepp9ne d e volved as time went on. 

She told Anderson that her boyfrieno had a knife and 

threatened to kill her. Then she to l d the 911 that Frazer 

put a knife to her throat and would punch her and cull her 

hair . She to ld the same storv to Hrandt, adding tnat Frazer 

wa s taking her to 2 s □ ecial ol~ce to dumo her body after she 

was killed . 3RP 199-2JO. 

Brandt's testimony establisheo only that Conrady was 

upset, 11hich alone i s not enough to trigger th 0 exci ted 

utterance hearsay exception. By the time Conr ady spoke with 

Brandt, shs had rgfl ected sufficiently to concoct the basic 

elem~nts cf her story: a knife to the throat, ounshing, 

thre ~ts to kill . This was en~ugh t o exolain her pAnicked 

exit from the vehicle that Frazer was driving . 
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Haa defense counsel obj9cted, there was 3 reasonable 

probebilitv that Rr andt ' s hearsay testimon v wou l d ,ave been 

exclud ~c . The state would ha ve Jeen left without evir~nce of 

the alleged assualt end felony harassment. But for counsel's 

deficient f ail ure to object, ~nere i s s reasonable 

pr □ Jab ili ty t hat the outcome wou ld have been diffe ren t . 

Ev~n \f Qrandt ' s hearsay testimony 1Jas ad~issib l e es a n 

excite~ utterance , the cumul~tlve e ffect of all of counsel ' s 

deficient failures was sufficient to under mine confirl~nce in 

the outco~e of the trigl. State v. Vaznuez, 1 qe Wn . 2d 

239,267-6A (2021 l; Ree also Stric~land 4 ~~ U.S . a• 696 . 

ldithout the inadmi~s,~le testinony of ~olznagel and 

Daugnertv, the state would have hmen left wi th onl y nrendt ' s 

bar e - bo nes v•rsi1n against Conrady ' s denial& on the stan d . 

Wi th such e sea-c~anqe in the admitted e vidence, there is at 

least a reasonabl• pr obabi l ity tha• the outcome wou l d have 

been dif f erent . Th e r e would h3 ve ~een reasonable dou~t that 

the alleoed crimes were committed . 

4, Defense counsel uas ineffective for failing to ob}ect to the 
prosecutor ' s ill tra a t ~2nt of Conrady o~ the stand . 

The argument is sim□ le, under Strickland, 466 U.S. 56A 

(19P4 ) , defense coursel's f ailure to object to the 

prosecutor ' s ill trea,~ent ~f Conrady wa s deficient beceuse 

counsel fa iled to make a ny e ffo rt at all to miti~ate t he 

damage that Conrady w•s doing t o her own cra~ibility by her 

mannPr of r esoonding to t he oro9ecutor. The pro~lem bias not 

that the prosecutor was v,o l a, ing any r ul es . In this 

situtation, the success af an objnctinn would no t have been 

maasur•a by whether it waq sustainad hut the ~f••ct it c~uld 

have had o, the to~e of tns oroceadinos . 
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5, 

Ry interjPcting some objections at aporopria t e times, 

counsel could havP broken up the arguments between Conr ady 

and the prosecutor , creating space for both Conrady and the 

orose cut or to calm themsel ves , ana made Conrady f eel more 

safe and a~le to answer questions calmly , in a way th at 

wou l d be more l ike l y to maintain her credibility . In this 

way, some timely objections to the pr□ s9cu t or's harsh 

treatment of Co nrady whi l e questionino her woul d l ikely had 

a successful i mpact on Frazer ' s defense by helping Conrady ' s 

credibility was central to counsel ' s defense strategy, yet 

counsel allowed Conrady to undermine her 0 1~n credibi l ity RB 

she fouoht with the pros ecutor . Counsel ' s failure to eve n 

attempt t.o rescue the chosen rtefense strategy as it we nt 

down in flame s wa s deficient perform anc e that, in 

combina tion with with counse l' s other deficienc ies , nre~tlv 

prjudiced Frazer ' s defense . This Court should accep~ review 

and reve rse t he assualt and felony harrasment convictions 

~nd remand for a n• bl trial . 

Counse l was lnpff~ctive for i s sues raised hy Frazer ln ore­
tria l hearings fr~m the start of hi s case . 

Th e Court of Apoeals declined to address or r ejected the 

numerou~ assertion s Frazer made in ~is SAG . See 10/11/??. 

r uling at 17 . 

Appellate counsel r aise~ inef f ect ive assistance of counsel 

clai ms nuotinq e xtensivPly fr om the tri al r e cord . Frazer 

bAli,!ves that hecPuse he filed letters and motions and other 

supporti ng documents, tha matters he rais~d in his SAG a re 

i nside the recor d not outside . 
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On page 1 of Frazer ' s No tion for Reconsideration CnA No. 

55928-5-II , he asked the court of aooeals to dismiss without 

prejudice the issues that the court deterrnied rely on 

matters outside the record. The court of apoeals did not 

dismiss them . However Frazer believes his claims ere part of 

the record end this Court cen waive the rules under RAP 1 . 2 

to do justice and facilitate resolution of the issue on the 

merits and if need he order a evidentiery hearing to exoand 

the record a nd evidence that Frazer □ resented to the trial 

court . See Att;,,chments A and l'J and transcripts in . '91:,tach_ment C . • 

Frazer is giving NOTICE that if this Court won't consider 

this issue from the recorn and e vidence Frazer □ resen ted to 

the trial court then he will raise it agAin in a PRP in the 

interest of justice, because Frazer did e verything he could 

do to bring co the trial court's attention his counsel ' s 

deficient ~erformance. 

Counsel was inP.ffective by failinq to cal l witnesses, 

present motions and letters of comolaints of defense 

counsel's failure to represent rrazer end ths conflict of 

interests ~hat were raised and sent to the preeiding judge 

and court clerk ' s office of Piercs county ~uoerior court 

before the start of his trial . 
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Effective ass i ctance of counsel inc ludes manv things , but 

not in the very least "Ce rtain basic duties , s uch as duty to 

l oyalty , a duty to avoid co nflict of interests ... the 

ov ~rea chi~o duty to advoc~te the defendant ' s cause end the 

more parti cu lar dut i es to consult with defendant o n 

important decisions and to consult with de f e ndant on 

important decisi~ns and to keep the def~ndant informed of 

important deve lo ~ments in the course of the prosecution . 

Counsel a l so has a duty to bring and bear such ski ll and 

knowl edgP 3nd b•i ll render the tr iel a reliab l e adversarial 

testin~ ~rocess . In re PRP of Yung - Chen TSP!, 1 8~ ~rn . 2d 91 , 

99-100 ( 2015) (quoting Strickland v. Was hington , 466 U. S . et 
688-n9 □ ). 

Stric~land v. l,lashington ts not a perfect safequard 

against funda mental micarr i age of justice . Th e un dending 

sear ch for symetr y in the l aw can ceuse judges to forget 

about justice. Sawyer v. Wh ite , srs U. ~ 333 (1 9S2) . 

This Court is asked to determine whether Fra~er was dani8d 

e f fecti ve essi~tanc e of counsel, and in order f o r this Court 

to consider this issue , it must consider e v ioence thet was 

admitted and evide nce tha t would ha ve been ad~ i tted had 

tria l c ounse l's performanc e bean within the con~titut i ona l 

standard of Strickland. Romo ill a v. Bea rd, 545 U.S. 374 

(2005); Williams v. Tay l or , 529 U.S . 36? ( 2000). Thus 

FRaze,'s summary of the evidence in thi s case should orovide 

the ?rOpPr framwrok for the Court ' s analysi s . See At tAchment 

A and 8 and Tr.anscrio ts in Attachment C. 
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Trial counsel failed to call witnesses who would have 
discredited the state's case. A defendant is entitled to 

have trial counsel interview and call available witnesses 

for the defense. See 2/2/2021 Motion to Interview Witnesses 
in Attachment A. 

Had Frazer's attorney made objections c all witnesses so he 

could have a timely trial, also present motions and advocate 

for Frazer the outcome would have been different and this 

Court should accept review and reverse Frazer's convictions 

and remand for a new trial. 

8. The trial court erred, when the trial court based its 
finding of guilt of the the no-contact order violations on a 
finding not supported by any evidence that support a finding 
of guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. 

There was insufficient evidence to suoport the trial 

court's finding that Frazer had knowledge of the no-contact 

order . 

The trial court's finding of knowledge was based on 

insufficient evidence because the state failed to present 

any competent evidence that Frszar was present at the 

hearing at which the no-contact order wes entered or that 
Frazer was served with the order . CP 1:6. 
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The face of the no-contact order include d boilerplate 

language that the order was entered "in 0oen Court in the 

presence of the Defendant: Septembe r 29,2020." CP 8 . 8u t 

Frazer did not sign the order . Th e space for his signature 

stated, ''Def2ndant unable to sign: covid19''· CP B. The state 

did not present any witnesses to testify t hat Frazer was 

present for e ntry of the order, that he was served with the 

order , or to expalain the notation in the defendant ' s 
signature block. 4RP 402. The order itself is hearsay a s to 

the fact of Frazer's presence in court. It is insufficient 
to support a finding that Frazer was present or that he was 

served wi th the order. 

In closing arguments, the state attempted to cover for its 
oversipht by arguing that the court cou l d take judicial 
notice of the ''processes and procedures'' and meaning of t~e 

''covid1 9'' notation . 4 RP 40B-09. The trial court found , 

''Because of C0VID-19 concerns over cross-contamination, the 

stylus that had been previously used in the arrainment court 
was removed and the practice was far the de fense attorney to 

type in t he defendant ' s name end th?.t the defendant was 

unable to sign due to C0VID-19 . " CP 1 36 ; 5RP 426. None of 

these facts exist in the r ecord . 

The trial court could not proper l y take judicial notice of 

these facts, either. Certainly a j ury would not have been 

able ta take notice of facts that were never presented in 

the trial . There is no reason the state's burden should be 

any less just because a jucge is the trier of fact . 

PE TITION FOR DISCRETI ONARY RE VIEW -17-



''A judge may not dispense with the requirement of formal 

proof simply because he or s he already 'knows' t ha t 

something is true.'' Tegland, at §201 :4. A judge ' s knowledge 

or memory is not a proper subject of judicial notice and 

cannot be relied on without making the judge a witness , in 

violation of ER 605. Ve ndercoo~ v . Reece, 1 20 Wn . App. 647, 
651 ( 2004 ) . 

''A judicially noticed fact must be one not subject to 

reasonable disp u te in that it is either (1) generally within 

the terri~orial jurisdiction of the trial court or (2) 

capable of accurate and ready determination by resort to 
sources whose accuracy cannot reasonably be questioned . '' ER 
201 (b). Neither the trial court ' s Co vid-19 procedures at 

arraignment nor Frazer's oresence at the arraignment were 

generally known within Pierce County . And the state did not, 
during its pr9sentation of evidence, or□vide the fact 

fidnder with an unquestionable source for such facts . 

The tria l court could not use thet fact of standard Covid-
19 procedures as proof that Frazer was actually prent at the 

signing and aware of the entry of the no-contact order . The 

standard procedure is not proof of what happened in Frazer's 
speci f ic ca se . 

PETI TION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW -1 8-



The state argued that Frazer fa iled preserve t his iss ue 

for appeal , but he did , in fac t , raise this is aue in the 

trial court. In closing arg ume nt, defense counsel pointed 

out that the state had fai l ed to present any e vidence t h at 

Frazer was actually present in court and acknowledged the 

enrty of the no-cont act order . 4RP 402. In rebuttal 

a rgument, the state raised for t he fi rst time the argument 

that the trial cour t could take judicia l notice to establ ish 

Frazer's p r e sence 4RP 408-09 . Defense counsel objected . 4RP 

409 . The trial court allowe d the argument. 4RP 409 . Frazer 

properly gave th e t rial court the ooportunity to consider 

the issue and not commi t the error t hat it did. Where the 

issue was rais e d for the first time in rebuttal in order to 

cover for the state 's own oversigh t in failino to present 

evidence, defense cousel did all that could be e xpected to 

pres e rve the issue f or apoeal. 

Tne proble• here wa $ not that Frazer f•iled to oreserve 

the issuA , ~ut that th~ sta te failed to present the 

necessary e v idence in its ca~e in ch i ef . Because it relates 

to e vidence of a recessary element of the char ned cr.ime, the 
state ne3de~ to raise the judicial notice is sue prior to 

restin□ i ts case . The state ' s late request -- and the tr i al 

court' s a ccep t ance of i t -- violated Frazer ' s right to due 

pro cess guarant e ed in Art l , 13 ~ash . Const . and the 14 th 

amendment of tne Fedsra l r,o nstitu ion by reli:ving the state 

of its burda n ~roving e ver y esse n tial element ~eyond a 

reasonable doubt . St a te v. K. N., 124 Wn . Aop . 875, nq a- 81 

( 2 □ 114 ); I~ re ldinship , 397 U. S . 358,364-65 (1967). 

PETITION FnR OJSCRE TIOPIARY REVIEW -1 9-



The Constituional test for s uff iciency o f evidence is 

whether after v i e winn th• evidencP in the l\ght moat 

fa vorAbl e to the prosecut ion any rational trier nf f act 

could have founc th? essentia l ele~an ts of the crime beyond 

a reasnnahle doubt . Jacksnn v. Virginia, 443 U. S. 307 

(1979). 

The state a rgue d that there was other circumstantial 

e v ide nce to establi s h Frazer ' s knowledge of t he no-contact 

order, but the state ove r o l ays its hand. For examp l e , the 

c on te n t of the jail calls does not establish any knowledge 

on Frazer's part . ThPre was only one call in which the no­

contact order was mentioned, ano in that call Frazer denied 

the or der . 4RP 332-25. His denia l cannot be e v idence that he 

knew o f its existenc e . 

This Court should acceot review and reve r se the 

convictions for violating the no-contact order, dism iss 

those charges, and remand for resentencino on all other 

counts with corrected offender s c or e (o r for a new trial if 

those counsts a re reversed for i neffecti ve assistance of 

counse l). 

VI . CONCLUSION 

Frazer ' s defe nse counsel W35 ineffective for f ailing to 

object t o inadmissible evidence that went to the hear t of 

t h e state ' s case was deficient . There was no reasonable 

st rat eg ic or tactical r eason not to o;ject . 

PE TITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW - 20 -



Def9nse counse l a l so failed to arque or present to th~ 

trial court defense witnesses who wo ul d have discredited the 

state ' s case and for fn . ling to int e rv iew other witnesses 

prior to trial dQspite Fr3zer ' s request to do so . 

Defense cousel was f urther De ficient fo r failing to 

present certain docume nt s thet were filed with the court but 

not heard due to defense counsel's inaction . Counsel also 

f ai leo to present other docu~ents that were filed with the 

court in support of Frazer's defe nse . See Atta= hment A and 

B. 

Counsel' e fail u re cumulatively caused qreat orejudice t o 

Frazer ' s defense a nd denied him his right toe fa ir trial . 

Hae ccunsel ob j ected, presented defense witnesses and 

inrerv i9wed wi thnesses , ore$ented documents and mo~ions on 

hehal f of Fraze r the r e is a reasonable orobai li ty that t he 

outcome would ha ve ,een di f ferent . This Court should r everse 

tne a5saul t and felony ha r rasment convictions due t o 

ineffective assistance and r emand fa r a new trial and a 

e videntiary hearing to e xoand t he r ecord f or the ineffe c tive 

assistance of counsel claims . 

PETITraa, FOR DISCRETI□r:A RV REVIEW - 21-



The tria l court ' s finoing that Frazer had knowledge of the 

no-contact orcer was not supported by evidence in the 

record . This Court should rever~e the nine convictions and 

dismiss the charges . The Court shou l d also remand for 

resentencing on the assualt and f e lony harrasment counts . 

I !lichael P . Fr a ze r , dec l are under the oenalty of perjury 
under the laws of the State of Washington that the foregoing 
is true and correct . 

D~T~O and Sir.NEO this--~ day of January, 2023 in the 
City of Aberdeen, County of Grays Harbor, StatP. of 
blashi ngton . 

Staff ord Creek Corrections Center 
1 q1 Constantine Way 
Aherdaen , WA 9A520 

OTO se 
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ATTACH~ENT A 

1 . 10/2~/2020 letter to Chief Judge 
RE: Speedy Trial Rights 

2. 12/29/2020 Motion to Dismiss 

3. 1 /8/2021 Mo tion to Ha ve victim and 
all witnesses interviewed 

4 . 1 /22/2021 letter to Presiding Judge 
RE: Speedy Trial Rights 

5 . 1/8/2 021 Motion to Dismiss 

PETITION eQR DISCRE TIONARY REVIEW Attachment A 



FiLED · 
l~ COUNTY CLERK'S OFFJC . 

-----'-- -----\,IC.~:-2.~18l-- -+---

- - - --!----

·.: 
____ E,t'. l\,\ic, M\ PG\·h-ic.K F ouv 

··-Gr· ----jlr'c:'-"o.:~se.,.,__,_,,N,.,,.o.,.:.., ·. ~1.=a=ao -=l=--~O=i,1~!.lD;;...:lo .... -=-s--_ _ 

_..:,.~--~....!..l,l..u,__.J.l.!.ll-.'-"l-lanc!=.:...= ~m~ lYial_· K:i9b➔5 _Y..i~-'"""""-=.:..:""-'~·=.,.'+-- - --+--
u . M .- G. . qo~. 

--=,~---,-+--~- - - ---------'------- ----- ! . . .. - .. 

---!-I _,_,.,.,s-==~==~===~==---..,U<ll!!..._..!.!.::'..'-"'.!..-r-"!a.-l<!.!.!..!.:.......><:c.:..!.!~1--'-"'--~:,__-+-
- ----!-·,!.!.f'l~ -'--"!,.U ·[}-- u, i+!:J-il"I --t-he l)j el'Cl! 

-fuv .· · . 

onor, I, wo1,dc\ li~ ±C> S'-41:.h"l.1+ -t:c ljO\il bV\.__.+\ __ 

_ _ --4_,_,_,.___,__.__tutlL. OY'\n\ ±o · ±hr Cour± +~ l'Yle,j l<e~ I 
----1~ .,_,_........,,ib.U.=- -'l,1.A-H v,\\ be ~ivin~ +es+irv'\on<1 ~v m.f~ . 
_ __ ,·l--""\}/"--'· ·1-'-'\ \L......1..U..W"'---~ - -'!(x ~ () OQ.'3S ~ pb\g . -t\) ~\V-f ¼·h oi~l'\J I 

\ Cl 

----1.--.u.u:;:.:.._ ...... ,_~V\ot, 1:.· do t"u+ \di-Sb +o \,vc,,\Jt.- M~"'l"~to~*-i:.i-,--_+j _. _ 
A e ctwo+ r,9ht I 

. . I 



_____w_ __ • _Jhere:fov<. a+- +hi:-, .,+!.~,.-\) t>lAv t-\oY'lor; -to :pr:e.vm'-'-+---1-__ _ 
~ . 

---'-'~;-_-----L--". Y-ej~_dic;g, ___ :¾ · 1\1\~ ri~ht .io'...c:..!<!o'---fu~<.!....r___!.-h-.!...!·l.14+,-,-..,,!,I.,:c___.!,0,"--"l'V'\:..l...... __ ----1-__ 

· e¼kv- --th.L r~ C'o~c 

. ?..o Si 

row+ _f:ot: di~"" iss0/ o.f /'\1~ . cas-e ~Oh ,.., 
; 

I {·J ..,n "•dire -to . -tw rl , A., llV\+ 
' " --I .., 
() \/ '" .. .: -1-lonoY -r. woulJ l il4 -h\ . ....\1 •,. ~·1, t', n, I . . __...,._,., 

"y f. o.,t,: V\ I, 

,•!, 

at #1i < ' -fuv •.,,• 

+tm<. - +at.it1.1i +)me. (\ ! ·,"' 
' 

., 
oh tl,,is 

·, 
Mti l e.-+hi. .,, ~\'\& · Con St'CU ...-o+foV\ () -Yn••y 

<"1 . 
M$r- \.ev, ·-

· ' -. Srnc.e:i-e , , . 
. 

,.,t /l/1ft f.. . /) 
1 

L • A 

Odohif (., . 'U:>1-0 
.. .. 

,.. 

IV\ i v\A~ I P~irK fi-1'\'2..t~ 

~ we.s+ C ·i:z .... ( VV\() i I'\ ..\~,I\ 
.. 

-· , 

' . 

. . 

-- -·-·-·-·-- -

I 
. 

'='I\ ' 'tot'2.. 
~ 

10 . cJ 



• ·, .- - . ·-----~•- ::-... 

, M iV\C<, \ P.,...\-k t~ B-,--u,--
TAC6MA WA 983 

OLYMPIA WA 

- ,,- ..... .-.:.-.----~-··-:" 
&okin9 #: vu 1-1 1&, S: · 

23 OCT 2020 PM 4 ,!-,..vv- . 
u 

6 T. T 0 

Pierce County Sheriff's DeP<ll!ment 
~,oTacomaAveSoutn 
•coma. Wa 98402-2168 

Chief J.tfid~e 0, \>re $idl~ jv\lfge. 

of +ru: Super i oi-- Coutt +ov -\he. · ~ 

of \JJo.<;_,hwJ+vY'\ fur ·-+¼ (,~~ ·of . Pitr-(e 
qio ,~cofh◊ p.ve. ~ ,v-\-h 

I q~ i os~ 4 02 11111n'•1\hl11111\111\lp '.\11H11i"11\l'I\Hi\ .. l'll'•'1'i'i• 
912'.<;? 02'. 0Z/S-2/01: 

~·-· 
V\ 

&-
c:s p. 
,/") 
,,~ ~ 

~ ~ c_; <-,) ,__, 



rl 

0 
rl 

0 , l\1111111111111 
5 

4 

5 

FILED 
IN COUNTY CLERK'S OFFICE 

JAN .8 2021 

PIERCE COUNTY, WASHINGT 
KEVIN STOCK, County Cle rk 

~ 
~ ~ 

1 SUPfl<IOR cou~T oF WASt·HNGiToN F'<>R PIERCE eouNf r 

, .s-io+, of W~t-,;n'-l-i"' .. l CQIA$~ ()() . . io-1-02..LIO(e-'b 
I - .. -· - pto-,oV, - . 
~ ~- I . 

IO l'Y\ichne\ ~-h,-;cj: f1,t>,'Zty • Mo-tiO"', To i)I SfY\; ss 
11 u,.,de.r 

• 
12 Crow-fm·t\ vs. :s:.tat~ o{ \VOShif)IJ&"', 

13 Def<.rd(W\1'. 11.~ s. C.t 1'5S'll ('Loot.{) 

14 -;-:5~·--·-~--··--------- - - ·- ·---- . 

1 5 The CltrK of ilierq C<().rtt'f Md o1 \ 

t w r S514C1. o+ Facts : 
17 

A . "I:Y'\ '1004 Suprttn( C(:(,,t Yul11~ t'\'\t,<ll ,4. CU.v, 
18 +r<-~ o\l +l'\C1. s-\Ottt \JJdn('sse.s, iY\du din, +he 
iQ v,c'-i rv) or/ ViC-h n ,s mu~+ CoM!I. -+-o CUArt -\D 
10 -tes-+;.f~ Ol~ -\-a~ 4w s-tord. ( S££: 11... I.\ 5. c.+- .1.~S'.L\~- :--:--------
11 B. . 

22 

23 

14 

'25 

'24' 

r~ 2oo~ +ht Svptetr\f Ccvv+ olso IY\OciR i+ deo., 
+M-t poli(Q 5-flttt.lY\(.~ C.o.nno+ bt u~ed iv-\ c~rt 
wi-fu~t ~ VH.,h rY'\ othl....-1, .. AS{ \+- W>lA\di vi o\tlk +h( 

cte-f erxlan'ts rt~hi +o Con-ft o n¼-t ion ( $Ce,·. 12.Lf S. c.-t. 
1ls-'-1 ( 2.00<-1).) 

Mo+iol"I fur DiSIY'li'S'S~I Ul'\dtr. 

Cro.w-+Ovd '4S . Th.t Sfot(. of wo.sh;11~1"0I') ,· l'l.4 J. 
(+ \~:sLI ( UOLI) . )-

·;· <-/1/u£?·1_;;;;;;;,- ,212.4 / ipio:,,, fiicA/~,0 
IY\i f'~~I +::v017e>V ~ 13 



,.,_ 

V' 
0 
0 

:J' 
0 
N 
tCi 

rl 
(·.! 
-:, 
1\f 

· . . , 
I.'.,! 
·, . ... ,~ 

JO.r)\AOr~ 8' 1 2.021 

· J/IIIIHlllllf . 
., . . , . 02-04-21 

FILED 
IN COUNTY·CLERK'S OFFICE 

FEB -2-2021 · 

TO 
erk 

s 

6 

1 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

. . . . 

IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 
IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF PIERCE 

STA TE OF WASHJNGTON, 
No. 'l.0 -1-0? .. l-lO(p· ~ 

Plaintiff, 
MOTION iO hove·. \I ict; M , .orid r O 11 

vs, 
S+qtes wi.ft1tsses i M(f\/i ~wecl ~~ 

Pq-l-r,c.K t-1\ic.hod rl"(l'Z.er ¾iol S-\or\s Uhcki- ~ro d'1 \JS. ', 

Defendant. Mo.r lqrid, 373 vs, 83 s.C.T.(j(/fi5) 

,s ... Con:~S; NO\l/: Th.c. def~ndQl'\1 r~S.p?<::t--t{.4\1~ moves. 

16 
+his C.our-+ -tor Cl"'- ord~< ur-0& m --1-Y\R. u.s .. 

17 
$vpre.l'l-1e Coo_(-t if\ . Brad~ >JS . ih.t S~ c,f Mo.~land, 
2>13, US. i3, 10 Led1d 7.!15;. ~3,· $ .. Cif" -11qt.\ (lq"1~) 

18 

to ~ve ViC..··h m aric;\ •. al\· · S10-ht5· . wi+he,ss(iS'-\ ·. '. · s · 
19 

i~.-vie.~d befo.-e --k-i~I. ,, · . 
20 

' ' ' 

21 , 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

iha+ 'I Qr'{) 4'°f·1t . d~fv\'dci'rit and :-+t,,o.-t: · 'l:· ~oVt s+•, 
A~~rrM+- ·r\~Yi.\- of dU1 -proCD~ -\-t,, ·1t"rh:rvi<.w -H--e. 

\/-i~m ·· •o.f\ct q\ \ s+l\'tt-s · w"i-\-~-sse.5 • I") 1¼,s ' 1CcA.se..: 
. ' . . 

Med +his 8
4

" dGI\) of Jg>"I\A()Y¥ l '2..01.. I 
DEFENDANT'S MOTION 



(\i 
<) 
r-1 
0 

IJ'• 
0 
N 
u) 

.,-< 

t~ 
0 
(\j 

'-.. 
(,) 

' ·, 
( .j 

2 

3 

4 

s 

6 

7 

! 

9 

10 

I J 

12 

13 

111111111111111111111 -
1 

20-l- - I ,mS(;O o.2•04-21 , 

FILED 
IN COUNTY CLERK'S OFFIC 

FEB - 2· 2021 
__ .,. 

IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 
IN Al\'D FOR THE COUNTY OF PIERCE 

STA TE OF WASHINGTON, 
No. '2,.o - l- 01.4D<P·i 

Plaintiff, 
. ,. 

Clei1C~ 'Req_ui~d vs. Acl-io11 
Michge.\ ~~tel( Fi,~~ 5d t--\o·bo" +o l)oc.Ket · ' 

Defendant. 

14 'TO TI-\E. CLE.Q'i. Of ~IEQ.CE. Cw>S\''I; AIJ~ 

. 1s 1\if.. 9Q.o~EC.UT\1'>G., ATIOQNE.'-1 OF ?1£e.cE. C.WN,'t 

16 ~LE.Mic ..,.~~E ,-,io"t"IC--t \he.~ fi t.:,\-1~<1.\- , Ol 1CX'Cte\ 

11 ~,o--ie., , Tut. t)e~eNfo.n-\-, Move:~ ~e. obovL 

1s effi',~\e..d co(.,<,.\- OI'\ ~ 271 h aa\/ o'-r .k0u<?H1, Jo1::L, · 

19 a.\- & , o'c...\oc..¼,, ..fl.. M. lor- \lv\e_ e.c.r\te..~~ dc.tt avc,\\ci:)le,) 

20 ~or c. 'rec.nf\~ r/) W,\:'\\. Ore.\ ~r~\..AMt.C'\\:- [] v-i,~ol/lk-

21 aro,\ l>.021V<hLJ\.\-, l\<1ol -\-\--c.t" ~e. uodenv~ne.ol w1\\ 

22 br'l/\<:I Cl'\ ~or hu,.,c-,t\~ 0.. moho'(\. 1 oc- 11'\o\-1~ ~oc- '. 

23 

24 

25 

26 

V ~ 

'" Oerl(S QCi-,on ~il-Qd -\o 
Stl MOtiO'"\ -to· l)cctet 

~~ ,/ ~pA 

~li,c..\,oe I f'r ClZ..el" 

.I 



0 . . 

/Jl 
. (") 

: I ·_ 

+\ ~, · Covn-bf of Pie/ e 

FILED 
IN COUNTY CLERK'S OFFICI; -

FEB -4 2021 

PIERCE COUNTY, WASHINGTON · 
KEVIN STOCK, County Cierk . 

BY ____ ,DEPuTY · 

-"-rl,-'-J _....;....__C-"-'o,..,,,se. NO: 20- I - 02-L.# O(o .:. ~ 
0 

. . 
. M~ name -, $ Michice \ H1AU-\l .. Mi:, ~~ '-lO. i~ 

wAS • • • J , 

Cl--\i€-f- Jud9~ and -to. _ ~ Co~r+- ~inif\j . +c;, 

~es+~ on m~ beho,\.f-. ·a"d -the ·~sser+ioV\ . -
of IY'.!I). SilC'ft") A1ne']d01Rn1 rigv,+ ·rho.+ ·rf. -H\.t · 
Coyr·±s Ccu(.c( no~- +oK~_ n'}e :±o --t•rio\ W\+hif\ 

go do~\S . --fr·ofY'\ ·rot! orro.i~n~..-;-f . jV\0.-t 1 _ M -"'-v...C..::ld..__ - - ~ 

be: foKtid :to I"{\ ~V{ :th!, cw ... + . ::fur d \ Sm ,sso- I 

31 · P0 • 1 of 2 · 



---
,t 

:Jhi.S_\_e.fA.er i.S ·1 f\ SLA-R-P-br± Qnu\ n.tli_~ qt -:• ~+.: Ocss~r+io.~ of: M'j :'>idh Anw\o\J\'\u\+ -
~tetr\ dw h ""~~s o.vo-i\o.b\ l,..\-~4Q 

1 

! .., <+i ~/--in_ ~~-b.t ~, l f- t.vJ'.'.\.u_Ci.\~ 
l"-o Lonrje:t:t'' ;- . Chli'~b.lR_ q..i,.:~o_pi.'.!:.S.o~~Cl:5.0bS. 
IY-ou-~un~,. ::r: ·c..i,n.,.,-.:,G\.Wi n,--fuv. ~011-1::: 5-5~c~.-~ 

()'\ - 0:0:ti~ i'I'Y,11.cl:.u n 1-~ ~!)Ol; P\ '5:.S, :s-+ "'"' l'{1 , ....._ j ~1: ire on 
(\J btbis_ ~-t-4-• ~!L_~o~. -I.A 

fupgcl.:.~.l!.\ Si,.,lornr.J+ed, 
M 
(\J -;{Jj,,. I , ----1 , , 
0 M f CJ-itwl / D . ~YC1-l.v .•. , 

' J.::.U-1A>...Z1..\ . 
-< .. 

-;fl l¥_(_1'1fl.d ,)tl\,\\ ,, 1.-l\ 
l~ , 

i 
I -· \ 

. \ 
' ,--_ 1 

\ ) \ 
~ "< \ 

~ l '\ 

I ' \ / 
7 

\.. / I 

-· 
; 

-· 2._of"7 



°/ 

~ 
w 

.w 
- , ... .. 

Nome:1"\1thc'-l,bf1-6iZtr 
Booking #: 'lli' LO 'LO l§; 
Pierce County Sheriff's Deportment 

.JlO Tacoma Ave South 
Tocomo, Wo 98402-2166 

;::: ...... ·.g ..,. .. ~:021 5 2 () ,:31 
.,TACOMA WA 983 

OLYMPIA WA 
27 .JAN 2021 PM 3 L 

:-,.: 

P·, ev(e (t:l.Ani\f Sup~rior CoiAc+ 

• ' ~ . ~ .. -.-. - * a a 
*USA* FOREVER* 

C\ ~v-k's o-f-f--i e,e_ JAN t •8 21J2f 

C,ou~ -Ci-hJ Build.-~ 
q 30 l C\ Cot¥'\~ Ave S _ 

. Ta Co~~:-W~ssC\ iLlo li1111i11 llp1•ll'l1l,lji,,,;;,illj/lpl1,11111Jli,J,j,IJ,l,,i11 
) 

6<0ZSdSO<:i> 

/ 
/ 

/ 

' 

----
.;, JNUN(X}l&/IJ$1{0:J JSOd ""JUJM 30Wi ONr318Yr.J.WH SI 3J073Na SIH.I 

11; l\' \t 'j 
! I; • ! ! l\ l i ·1 \ l' ; ' I : i i i 

; . . . 

-· .,41Ji.fr.f;°fitl>~•-'' 
., ~- - J • • .:ft,.i•'·· 

{ ·----
.JJ))~ 
.,&.Y' .. ~·· 

--. -.··-s:--.. ·-· .... _, ~ .;. 

! ·1 ! ! i 
). fU 

~c~:o.::is:.1 
'wotw.:,3 
I ' )l'll'f' ' 

:>S,{ 

rt 
! \i 

f:: .. ::~<·/.' ;z :!_ .. 
\, - ,.,,,..:.:~::,;..*:.; 

.,,. ·~ -1' 

- - ..... ~·- · • ;~::-: ::- . ----. C' 
•!:;'""'!';.' ' l '\. 

-· 
"J) 
:t. 
<g, 
..,­,.., 

~ 
;; 
-;-

)) 
-....,/ 



\ 
! ' 
I 
' l 

~ I 20-1~ ----· - -
tJ \ ------ ·-- ... ____ . 

ei-f l,4d e FI~ED 

O +he Su e.>--ior wr+ r 

the S-\-o:\e _cl \N · on -to~ 
l~ 'fu Cwf\t KEVIN STOCK.'county Clerk 

---;::\:;-(Ji-f~~~-'-"j--'LL--..b~~=-----'---'------D¥-:======:i:ircr~~-'--
~r 

<-I 

0 
---+----- - --·-------------

" .,, . Ts - I"\ O" : Mo-hon To ' Dis"m·,ss -··---: 
<-I 

',, . unde.r- Cr~wford . ~tcxte of \.Vo5hi n 
<-I 

--+-'-'3~~~'-/~(_'l~JJ u. S. V~- fv\Qr\ Qi. l:x10Ele 13 

hirl d · 
-----1-~'---'---->..C:Cu 9~-:.._------·------4--

__ ....µ,....::::.=--=--=~- 20-· l-0240{o· <o. I. "•~ 
rYl ion -to _c\i .<niS'S . 

F.1d 

- ~'--=------'-~-+...e..hi~- ~ ~ c-.Jc..L.!.!....,__.J..Ll.l.w...!.:it.:...:..:J...!..,L.J.l.,.L_-=m=be='!....1--~ --·- -
al 

' , 



,fl 
IJ 
rl 

0 

ou.c honor. +ht. Sterle . he\-S. · h~d 1Y1ore. ~"' e.V\W~h 
+i tn-t -to ~~ -WY +hi$ ~Ob€ · o."d C,()I\ . _·1 -f 
wi-tne.c;.s..ec oY -+he ntl~ ed v'ict, m . I.-+ wou\d e - · 

' . 

-+ht de.-fer\Se if -+ ouri ere. +o . .ont,nue 
f-h•S a e _ C\" ·urthtr +t-on ·,+ o\reod~ hGtS. f 

h '\ I' -i+ ~\/ef'\. 'St-~'S ~YU eor\ . 0:--·~=i =e::.....+~ -~ 
~-to+ Me.t\t t\t-i~ Declo.ro+io0 'A--obable e. ¼ rt------4-...!=.!:~tl.!....!~L+-~=-.!:~~~~...:.J:'.:..!.,__~~~~~::....l~LL--

,.., 

0 
;\ 

''Th~ v'ic:hM ,d no+ r"lt -to rnl\ke o ..--'--4-n 

--\:bis Case_ n -to ~ 
vs.. Shrle of W<X':.>h,"'~ . -:i. 

. 7--1.4-1...02.0 



/lT TACHMENT 8 

1. 1/12/2021 Letter to Chief Judge 
RE : Conflict With Counsel 

2 . 1 /B/2021 Letter to Chief Juone 
RE: Conflict With Counsel 

PETJTION FOR DISCRETIONARY AEVIE~I Attachment R 



. . ' - ' . _ _, .. 

-@ I ,II IIII IIH 111111111 
L20-1-o200M 55451317 lTADFCD ~21 

0. 
('J . 

. . ' 

. ' ' . . 

. . 
. IN COUNTY CLERK'S OFFICE 

FEB 03 2021 
. . 

.PIERCE COUNTY, WASHINGTON 

-~-. --~~-~-·. =:=~~--:-_---,-, ---,---:.---- --- - - --,--,--~-·- ·=· -==~ 

· . . De..o1: _f2bi~-f: .~)ud·'3t ' . . . 

\) 



' I • \ 

· +ht \.e.#&:. +hA4-- -+he V1C;tim ,('\ M'-/ COS~ . 
\-\A, gpporenfl'I \1-.ir"~~" :to +he ·Cou,t . . 

v• .. 
0 
e.J7'2l ::WX 

iii 

c-J • . , :t.. _ w~ ~ r:~~d)J . ~:for- ¾ .i~ \ ·:, m\f cxtror~,,f · ~ S .. 

-.. _: " " -~J.l~ ... $.e.0.9 (l r;.e <i,U6tW ::fi>r" . I). c()V)+.i nUoihC£ 0~ . . M t:f 
. COi~ ~ _d.e~p.i:tt . [(\N olzj~c+,on ~, . . 

deO\-f ,.1~ar$. . - . ·. _ · 
' -----------'-- -



(j, 

, . Q .. 

.-I 

'Ycx,1r ~oryor, · i opp--cc;.fate._ ~rur -h 'ht' ii'\ reodi')B · 
.. . IY.J~ .. le±+er.· ar'1ci fol'" \J>Yr · CooSideio.+i® of _·. .· 



(\J 
r, 

\J 
0 
(\J 

. VJ , 

• J 

/1~ j DC hrY\f i \ rJ -B_J 
t..... 

I - ·'8 - 1:02.. j 

~~·-~--'-'-'---~--....;__~----"'-~--~---'-'-~~~~~=~-==-·~· 

·.·: . t>eot: Chi~-f Ju d9~ • . . 

~~~--- . . . " .... ...... . .. 

Throo~h du~ . ·dil i '!Jer'\Ce .. at'ld reo.d;r19 iri ~ - lo..w 
libr~ Mtt-._i0 Ja:d, :c: Koow undu Supr~Me _ 

___ -Coor+ . ...-u\if\9_ ir) s+.--icKlund· YJ> ±he st~ -o-f . 

. ~oShi"@½n -+ht'I-+ . o.11 • def~ndan+s .. O~ -h-icx I 

• + • • 

·su ~me rv\ ,n ':-(lolll . ·_. vi · -so U= -2.d .. . . 
J 



(\! 

. .. .-i .r··· 
,\I . lt>7t.f 10£.j . S; C-T 2,os.:2 ..... J3Js .. o .. St;.£. ·, ..... l;i\o.sse( -vs·.... , ........ .. . . ' - . . 
0 .u.s·. ~IS"· u. s. loO . Also s·G£'>.U.5. vs ·.P.cx\i\\0 -. . 

I.Cl 

\ .. · 
4--...<...' _. _. ---,--~ - -'----.,.;-'-'--+-~,--.--:-----''-----

. '/wr · h9n~r ., 6ng .· .. crlf:o--n~!:) , ttY.\s.,·(k~l\~ .S€o~o·: ~~-s: ~ .. ()~r1,., · 

·~0.,.>_yJL\1!'.\, .,-.~ .. . :.~t~:· :rot , 'w·~~ .. m~ C,,9~ .. :c ...... : ........... , , 
rw~ · a:s~d ·MS~ sw ·.::fu,;-. h~;· ~ -f-i\e ~-t<>-~n . _ 
o~ ➔)': \P,. \ roo+i_o_o s :±_t~t· .:J:". Kb\.otv WW l d he.l p .l 

, . 

I 

30 



ATTACHMENT C 

1. Trial Tr 3n3cript 
2RP 141+-11, 7 

2. Tri~l Trans cript 
3RP 21 4-217 
3RP 220-22 9 
3RP 236-23 CI 

3 . 1 / 12/2021 Pretria l Hearing 
Pg . B , 9 

PETITION ~OR nr sCRETION~RY REVIE11 Attachment C 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

1.1 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

TESTI MONY OF KERI CONRADY - FEBRUARY 25, 2021 

Q. (By Ms. Hauger) Ms. Conrady, whose voice is that 

saying, " I drove to my house and pulled into t he dd ve way and 

he put a knif e to my throat ?" 

A. Sounds like me. 

(Second 911 call played but not transc.ribed as per 

direction of the Court . ) 

Q. (By Ms . Hauger) Whose voi ce is saying that he tol d 

you if you didn't back out of the driveway he is goi ng to 

sink the knife into your throat? 

A. lt sounds like me under a whole lot of stress and 

not in my right mind. 

(Second 911 call played but not transcribed as per 

d i recti on of the Court.) 

Q. (By Ms. Hauger) Whose voice is that saying that "he 

punched me the face"? 

A. A hysterical me. 

(Second 911 call p l ayed but not transcribed as per 

direction of the Court.) 

Q. (By Ms. Hauger) Now that you 've listened to t hat 

911 call, why don ' t we start from the begi nning and tell t he 

Court what happened that night . 

A. I'm not going to. You can ask me questions, and 

I' ll answer them, but I ' m not go i ng to tell any story. 

Q. I did ask you a guest.ion. I asked you to tell t.he 

Court what happened that night that resulted i n a call to 

SHAUN LINSE, CCR NO. 2029 
Dept. 1 , Superior Cour t 253.798.7482 

144 



1 

?. 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

1 3 

14 

JS 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

911 . 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

TESTIMONY O F.' KERI CONRADY - n ~BRUARY 25, 202 1 

An argument . 

I 'm sorry? 

l\n argument . I was bei ng a bi t ch . 

What happened duri ng t hat a r·gument? 

Argui ng. 

What happened during that argument i s t he fac t s 

that you told the 911 operator, correct? 

A. I don' t know e:i<actly . My head was cloudy . I was 

hysterical. I may have made some mista kes on thi ngs t hat 

were sai d. I p robabl y overr eacted because , you know, that ' s 

what women do . 

Q. Ms . Conrady, you were hysteri cal because, just l ike 

you tol d the 911 operator, when you pulled into the driveway, 

the defendant pul led out a kni fe and tol d you to back. out, 

correc t ? 

A. I may have been hyster i cal because I was under t he 

influen ce of drugs . 

Q. You wer e hys t eri cal because t he defendant pul l ed 

out a kni fe when you pull ed into the driveway and told you to 

back out, correct ? 

A. I wasn ' t hysterica l becaus e of anything like that . 

Q. Ms . Conrady, you told the 911 opera to r tha t he had 

hit you, correct? 

A. I don ' t remember . I don' t remember , 

SHAUN LINSE , CCR NO. 2029 

Dept. 1, Supedor Cour L 253 . 798 . 7482 
145 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

TESTIMONY OF KERI CONRADY - FEBRUARY 25, 2021 

tou just listened to the 911 call, correct? 

Did I say t hat he hi t me? 

Yes . 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. I said that I thought I may have had a broken -- I 

think the word may have been "arm . " It was cut off. 

Q. 

A. 

I will play i t for you again. 

Okay. 

(Second 911 call played but not transcribed as per 

direction of t he Court.) 

Q. (By Ms . Hauger) Ms . Conrady, whose voice was that 

telling the 911 operator that you had driven up and down 

t hose roads ? 

A. 

Q. 

We've already been through that. I t's my voice. 

Did you hear yourse lf, your voi ce telling the 911 

operator t hat he punched you i n the face? 

I heard. 

Your face was swollen as a result , correct? 

A. 

Q. 

A. I don't know that . :r::'was hys-t,e,ric-al , an~ · I 'm going 

l o <;JO ,al,ead end say thi:it. , es_Qeci~l.J.y J,isten.;i.ng to that cal l , 

.J:,hat I was J1ot., ip my r i _ght mind, obv.i.o.usJ...y, and I may have 

111ade ,some er rors i n judgment o:fj wha't I have sa;i.d. 

Q. Ms . Conrady, I ' m goi ng to back up agai n and ask you 

again. This incident started in Puyallup. You clearly 

indicated that to Lhe 911 operator . •rell the Court what 

happened when you pulled into the driveway. 

SHAUN LINSE, CCR NO. 2029 
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'.eESTIMONY OF KERI CONRADY - FEBRUARY 2 5 , 2 021 

A. The incident didn't starl in Puyal l up like I told 

t he 911 ope.r:al:or . Costco is in Bonney La ke . I t ' s no t. i.n 

Puyallup . 

Q. Tell t he Court what happened when you pulled i nto 

the d riveway of your resi dence . 

A. 

Q. 

We argued, and I d r ove my car out the dr i veway . 

During t hat a rgument a nd before you drove t he car 

o ut of the driveway, the de fe ndant produced a kni f e and held 

it to your t hroat , correct? 

A. 

not . 

Q. 

times . 

Q. 

I don ' t know that he -- no , he did not . No, he did 

You t o l d the 911 operator t ha t, did n 't you? 

MS. SEAGO : Ob ject i on , as ked and a nswered many 

THE COURT: r,•Je ' ve gone over t his , Ms . Hauger . 

(By Ms . Hauger) What time did the defendant pick 

you up at the 76 Gas Stati on? 

A. I don ' t know . 

Q. You we r e in the car with him for hour s , we r en ' t. 

you? 

A. Throughout t he day . We were i n the car most of t he 

day . 

Q . From the t ime you left Da nny Ki ng ' s house i n 

Puyallup to t he t i me you jumped o ut of your vehicl e , whi l e it 

was still in motion , how l ong wer e you in Lhe car? 

SHAUN LINSE, CCR NO . 2029 
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TESTIMONY OF KERI CONRADY - MARCH 1, 2021 

of a stranger at 4:30 in morning on September 28th . 

A. I answered questions as to t hat already. 

MS. HAUGER: You r Honor, at this time, I am going 

to i ndica te no further questions, a l though we will deal with 

t ha t when we get t here. 

THE COURT : Ms . Seago? 

CROSS-EXAMINATION 

BY MS. SEAGO : 

Q. 

Okay? 

A. 

Q. 

Ms. Conrady, let me know if you can't hear me. 

All right . 

Michael Frazer d i dn't steal your vehicle, di d he? 

MS . HAUGER : I 'm sorry . It ' s extremely hard 

hearing wjth a mask on . 

MS. SEAGO: Can you hear me now? Is that bet t er? 

I 'm not comfortable with having my mask off for an extended 

period o f t i me even in the courtroom, so I will try to 

speak --

'l'HE COURT : I f you want to step further back, you 

can do that as well , but I' l l leave it up to you. Just keep 

your voice up . 

MS . SEl1.GO: All right. That's not usually 

something people have to tell me. Tell me if you can't hear 

me. 

SHAUN LINSE, CCR NO. 2029 
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TESTIHONY OF KERI CONRADY - MARCH 1, 2021 

MS . HAUGER: Okay . 

Q. (By Ms . Seago) Michael !"razer didn't steal your 

vehic l e, did he? 

A. Mike ' s my boyfriend . Ile was abl e to use my vehi cle 

any t i me he wi,inted. 

Q. 'l'hat was an arrangement that you had pr i or t o 

September 28th, 29th'? 

Yes. 

Q. And you jus t looked at a motor vehicle theft 

report, correct? 

P. •• 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Yes. 

That ' s in fron t of you now? 

Yes . 

Did you ask t o fil l out t hat report? 

I didn't fil l it out . I just s i gned it, 

apparently . 

Q. And that 1•1as at the hospital? 

A. I guess . I don't remember signing it . 

Q. Is t he information lis ted in t ha t report t hat 

i ndicates that vehicle was stolen by Michael Frazer, is t hat 

accurate i n formation? 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

No, it ' s no t . 

Okay . 

I t I s an assumption is whal I Cill1 see. 

Now, you did have an argument with Michael 

Sl!AiJN LINSE, CCR NO. 2029 
Dept. 1, Superior Co11rt 253 . 798. 7482 
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TESTIMONY OF KERI CONRADY - MARCH 1, 2021 

when ycu were driving a round in the car, correct? 

A. Yeah. 

Q. You sai d whe n you testified las t week a litlle bi t 

something a bout him talki ng about trying t o break up with 

you; that you were upset? 

A. We hadn't been getting along on and off for a 

minute . 

Q. I s i t fair to say t hat you t•,•lo when you were 

arguing, dr i ving around in t he car, you were a rguing about 

lots of things , correct? 

Ye s . A. 

Q. You were asked wha t things you were a rguing about, 

and you said , " I was being a bitch." Is t her e anyth ing more 

specific that you c oul d tell the Court? 

A. No, I was just being a bi tch that day . 

Q. Not a good day? 

A. Not a good day . 

Q. Okay. Not", Mi c hael Frazer did not abduct you in 

your vehicle, di d he? 

No . 

Q. And you both had engaged in t he use of 

me t ha mpheta mines during that time period? 

Yes. A. 

Q. And you ' ve used methamphetarnines at some point in 

the past, correct? 

SHAWJ LINSE, CCR NO. 2029 
Dept. 1, Superior Court 253 . 798 . 7482 
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Q. 

TESTIMONY OF KERI CONRADY - M)\.RCH 1 , 2021 

Yes . 

What effect does t hal normull y have on you., 

Had paranoja . I was just not in my r ight mi nd. 

Does it make you suspi cious of peopl e ' s motives aud 

wha t they ' r e doing? 

A. Sure , yeah . I think t ha t's one of the top side 

effects of t hat. 

Q . When you look b,1ck on it now, do you belie ve t hat 

you wer e suffering t he effec t s of t he methamphetami ne t hat 

night? 

A. 

sti l l um. 

Q . 

l was going t hrough a really r ough time , and I 

Did you be l i eve that Mike was also under t he 

i nfluence of rne t humpheta1nine? 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

I believe so . 

Was he acting somewhat irrationally ,'ls wel l? 

Yeah, he had been . 

Did t hat escalate t he argument t hai; the t wo of you 

,,.1er e havi ng? 

A. 

Q. 

Yes. 

Now, you could hav<i gotten out of your car ilt some 

poi nt when Mj ke was driving ; i s t hat correct ? 

l\ . 

Q . 

I could have . 

In fact, you d i.<i get ou t o f t he car to pee at one 

point , corr e c t ? 

SHAUN LINSE, CCR NO . 2029 217 
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TESTIMONY OE' KERI CONRADY - MARCH 1, 2021 

vehicle, that you now were told it w,Js a Jeep, the vehi cle of 

this stranger on the road after you jumped out of your car , 

he didn ' t let you i n the vehjcle immediatel y, correct? 

A. 

Q. 

No. 

And you realized up were going to have to say 

s omething more to get i n to that vehicle? 

A. I don 't know t ha t I necessarily t ried Lo get i nto 

the vehi c l e . I was just cryi ng and whatnot , a nd he 

automatica lly hopped on t he p hone. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

You did ge t .i. nto the vehicle eventua l ly? 

Eventually. 

You didn' t really have any kind of plan when you 

jumped ou t of your vehicle t hat Mike was driving, cor rect? 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

the time? 

A. 

Q. 

No . 

You just kind of acted on i nstinct? 

Impulse . 

Do you feel l i ke that was a r ational decision at 

Probably not . 

Do you feel one of the reasons you jumped out t he 

vehicle 'rlas because of the paranoia you were feeling from the 

eff ects of t he methamphetamine? 

A. Su r e . 

Q. Once you got into t hat vehicle, t he dr i ver of the 

J eep kind of took c harge of thi ngs, correct? 

SHAUN LINSE, CCR NO. 2029 
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Q. 

A. 

TESTIMONY OF KERI CONRADY - MARCH 1, 202 1 

Yes . 

He called 911 '? 

Yeah. 

Q. And you a l so s poke t o 91 1 whi l e he was t alking to 

t he var i ous 911 di spatch peopl e? 

A. I thi n k at one poi nt T said Mike ' s n.ime. He was on 

the phone a l ong t ime . I ' m not sure when I spoke o r who I 

spoke to. 

Q. Do you fe e l like you wer e be ing overly d ramatic 

when you j umped out of the car and t hen got i n to thi s other 

vehicle? 

Looking back now, yes. 

Q. We r e you -- even back then when you j umped out of 

the car, 1ee re you afrai d t hat Mike was going to kill yoll? 

A. I was just afrai d of t he whole night e verything 

that was going on, him lea vi ng and t he argumen t t ha t we had . 

I didn 't know " her e I was at. I ' m ,,frai d o f the dark. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

It ,,1as pretty dark ou t that night? 

Yes . 

You don ' t rea l ly knmv e xa c tly what you said to 

peopl e d uring that t ime , corr ect? 

A. 

Q. 

! already said t hat, yeah . 

You drew a picture of whal was s upposed to be a 

knife for one of Lhe o ff ice rs . I bel ieve t hat Ms . Hauger 

s howed that to you. 
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'fESTIMONY OF KERI CONRADY - MARCH 1, 2021 

Yes . 

Do you remember doing t hat? 

No. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. Did Michael Frazer hold something of that s hape up 

to your neck? 

A. I t was dark. I wouldn't know. 

Q. You don't have any memory of hjm holding any kni fe 

up to your nec k? 

No . A. 

Q. Michael Fraze r didn't punch you ,~hile you were in 

the car, did he? 

A. Not that I ' m aware of. 

Q. You were shown photographs o f yourself a t t he 

hospital l as t week, correct? 

A. Oh- huh. 

Q. I'm going to s how you those photographs again, and 

if you can tell me if there is any injuries t hat you can see 

t hat happened t hat night, if you could point those out . 

A. Like I tol d her, my face was puffy from crying. 

Didn't see anything that she was trying to say was t here . 

Q. 

A. 

So you didn' t see a black eye? 

I don ' t know . I would have to look again, but I 

don ' t remember. I have dark c i rcles under my eyes right now 

from crying. 

MS . SEAGO: Judge, can I approach the witness? 

SHAUN LINSE, CCR NC. 2029 
Dept. 1, Superior Court 253 . 798. 7482 
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TESTIMONY OF KERI CONRADY - Ml!..RCH 1, 2 021 

·nm COURT: Yes. 

Q. (By Ms . Seago) I 'm showing you wh;;1t has a l ready 

been marked State ' s Exhibit No . 12 thr ough 16. I 'm just 

goi ng to let you look through those. 

I just see da r k circles under my eyes . That's what 

I see. The lighting i sn ' t even real ly good e nough t hat if I 

did have a b l ack eye , I would not be able to tell . 

Q. So you don 't see any blac k eye , what you recognize 

to be a black e ye on yourself in t hose? 

A. No, I don ' t. 

Q. As you already said , you had puffiness . You ' ve 

been crying? 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q . 

Yes. 

You 've been ver.y upset alJ evening? 

Yes. 

There was a picture of your a rm in he r e as wel l . 

Di d you see any i njury on that arm? 

A. 

Q. 

correct? 

Q. 

No . 

So you definitely did not have a broken arm, 

1 did not. 

Do you remember t el l i ng anybody that you though t 

you i: a rm might hv.ve been broken or t hat it hurt? 

A. 

arm hur ts . 

I don't remember sayi ng t hat. I .remember saying my 
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Q. And you r arm that was in those, i t was your right 

arm? 

A.. Yes . 

Q . Do you know even today what happened to your arm 

t hat evening or t ha.t morning? 

A. 

Q. 

for it? 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

No, I don't. 

Did you have to seek any f urther medical treatment 

No. 

Did they give you a sling or any kind of treatment? 

Ne. 

Q. Now, once they took you to t he hospital, everyone 

treated you like a domestic violence victim, correct'/ 

A. Yeah . 

Q. And you're not a domestic viol ence victim, correct? 

A. No, I'm not . 

Q. And t he doctors started looking you over, and at 

that poi nt, were you sti l l under t he influence of 

methamphetamine? 

A . Yes . 

Q. Did you start to worry chat t here were going to be 

issues if you d i dn't go a l ong with what the doctor and the 

deputy we,r.e saying? 

A. l wasn't speaking to the deputy, and I didn't want 

to go to the hospital in the first place. They made me. 
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Q. But o nce you got there, they presented you with a 

domestic violence form. Do you remember that? 

I don ' t i:-emerober . 

Q. Did you Hant to f ill out a domes t ic violence 

report? 

A. No . 

MS . SEJ:,GO: Has that a l ready been marked? Has the 

domest i c vi olence report been marked? 

MS. HAUGER : I t's in the exhibit binder . I don ' t 

know that it ' s been given an exhibit tag , but it ' s in the 

exhibit binder. 

MS. SEAGO: Hold on. 

Q. (By Ms. Seago) I'm no t easily seei ng that, but do 

you even r emember filling out a domest i c violence r eport? 

No, I haven' t even seen any of t he paperwork in the 

tile . 

Q . I s it fair to say t ha t if there i s such a thi ng 

t ha t ' s not something t hat' s a true a nd accurate 

representation of what was happening t ha t e vening? 

A. 

Q. 

A.. 

report . 

Q. 

A. 

No, it woul dn't be . 

Even if you signed it? 

Even i f I s igned it j us t like t his , the the f t 

Mike d idn ' t confine you in the car, correct? 

No. 
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Q. You two did drive around for a really long time, 

right? 

A . We di.ct that often . 

Q. He didn't threaten you with any kind of bodily 

injury while you were together? 

A. 

Q. 

No . 

And any conversation you may have had with Mike 

over the phone, he didn' t threaten you wi.th any bodily injury 

ar. that time? 

A. 

Q. 

No. 

And he didn' t use some sort of code word to make 

you believe that he was going to -- he was threatening you i n 

t he future? 

A. 

Q. 

No, no code word. 

There is specific phrases that were brought up from 

the telephone conversations that were supposed to be between 

you and Mike while he was in t he j ail. One of the things 

that you said was it wasn't supposed to -- " I wasn 't supposed 

to make i t out of there alive. " Do you remember what you 

meant when you said t hat? 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

I don ' t know •..ihat you ' re referring to. 

Well , "he has frie nds that will come after 111e. " 

I never sa i d that, did I? 

If you did say something like that, did you -- at 

any point since Michael Frazer has been arrested for thi s, 

SHAUN LINSE, CCR NO. 2029 
Dept. I, Superior Court 253. 798. 7482 

226 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

i-·1 3 

l 14 

l- 1s 

16 

17 

18 

--19 
I 
L 

I 
20 

I 
21 

II 
22 

I 23 

I 

I 24 

I 
'· 25 

TESTI MONY OF KERJ CONRADY - M.ARCH J, 2021 

did you feel l i ke he was te l ling you t0 not come to court? 

1\. I don't think he was tel l ing me t hat . 

Q. Did you think that he 1aas thn'!a teni ng that 

something might happen t o you if you didn ' t refuse to come to 

cour t? 

l;.. No, he WilSn ' t thre atening me. 

Q. And you certainl y haven ' t ta l ked to him since this 

t r ial started, correct'? 

A. I have not. 

Q. And you explained yourself a l read y as to wh y you 

don' t wan t t o be here? 

A . Righ t . 

Q . Michael F."raze r hasn ' t t hreatened you o n that night 

or any nigh t s i nce t he n, correct? 

A. He doesn't thr eaten me. 

MS. HAUGER: Obj ection, Your Honor . Asked and 

answered . Beyond t he scope . 

THE COURT : Sust(.lined to the f orm of the quest i o n . 

Q . (By Ms . Seago) Hi!ve you ever been a victim of 

domes tic violence·? 

A. Yes. 

Q . So you knm,1 what t hat i s? 

1\ . Yes . 

Q . That ' s not what was happening be t\-1een you and 

Mi chael Frf.lzer? 
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No . 

MS. HAUGER: Objection, Your Honor. 

No, it wasn't. 

'l'HE COURT: Overruled. 

Q. (By l'1s. Seago) When you showed up here to testify 

last week, were you worri ed that i f you di.dn ' t say the same 

t hing that night that you would get in trouble wi t h the 

prosecutor o r with t he Court? 

A. No, I don't want to be here , and whatever 

repercussions l get from that, so be i t. 

Q. You testified for a brief period in t he morning . 

You remember? 

Yes. A. 

Q. And then you came back in t he afternoon after you 

sat o utside for an hour p l us, correct? 

A. Yes. 

Is your testimony today t ruthful? 

Yes. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. You ' re not under the influence of any drugs at thi s 

t i me , correct? 

A. No. 

Q. 

night? 

A. 

Q. 

But you were under t he infl uence of drugs that 

Yeah. 

~/hy is i t import ant th<1t the judge beli eve you 
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right now? 

A. t hat ' s a good question . I don' t -- I don ' t know if 

it is. I don't think my test i mony or whal I say is going to 

sway a ny decision e i t her way, i f that makes any sense . 

People wr ite what they wa nt t o on the reports, a nd I ha ve no 

control over what anyone else has to say about the situation 

from t he i r poin t of view . 

Q. 

A. 

A. 

From yo ur point of view, you were not a victi m? 

I 1-1as no t a vi cti m. 

HS. HAUGER : Objection, Your Honor . 

THE COURT : Sustained . 

MS . HAUGER: Asked and ans1-1ered multiple t imes . 

From my point of view, I was not a victim. 

THE COURT : .Sus ta i ned to t he objection. 

MS. SEAGO : I have no othe r quest.ions . 

T HE COURT : Thank you. 

Redirec t . 

REDIRECT l, XTU-lINATI ON 

13Y MS . HAUGER: 

Q. Ms . Conrady, we started t o establish l ast week that 

between October 30th and February 1st, October 30th of 2020 

and February 1st of 2021, you spoke to the de fendan t on the 

phone whil e he was i.n cus t ody, corr ect·/ 

A. Cor .rect . 
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THE COURT : Okay. Thank you . 

Ms . Seago, recross? 

RECROSS-EXAMINATION 

BY MS. SEAGO : 

Q. Ms. Con rady, I thi nk you were trying to say t h is, 

b ut you 've never been afraid o f Mike Frazer, ha ve you? 

A. I 've never been afraid o f Mi ke Frazer . 

Q. That statement t ha t ' s attributed to him, " I have 

fr iends that care about me" is what he actually said in that, 

correct? 

A. We were talking more abou t rel ationship, like, the 

r umors that go a r ound when peopl e are l ocked up and t hen t he 

rumors that are out t he r e and whatnot . 

Q. And t hat was rumors about maybe you being with 

somebody else? 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

Exactly . 

You didn' t take t hat to be a t h reat, correct? 

No. 

You talked to him af ter t hat? 

Yes . 

And the prosecutor played you part o f your 

conversati on where you said, " I ' m afraid to be around you, 

but that ' s a ll I want." Do you want to explain what you 

me,mt by t hat? 
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A. We ha ven' t been doi.ng good in our r e l ationship, 

but , you know, I love him, and I want to be r,,,i t h him. I 

j ust we both have t:rus t issues . 

Q . So t ha t d idn ' t mean t hat you were literall y a fraid 

t hat he woul d do something physical ly or mental ly to you? 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

No, I don ' t want to get my heart hurt . 

So t his was. a conversation about your r e l a t ionship? 

Yes. 

And I think you sai d repeat:edl y t hings to t he 

effect of a nything the y got t hat evening didn ' t come from me. 

Is t hat what you ' ve been testi f ying to t oday? 

' . -,. . Yes . 

Q. Did you feel like t his was -- o nce t he poli ce and 

t he doctor and the domestic viole nce peopl e got i nvol ved thc1 t 

you d i dn ' t get s say anymore? 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

I di dn ' t ha ve a say f rom whe n the ambula nce t ook me 

You ' re trying to ha ve your say today, corr ect? 

Yes . 

Even t hough you do not want to testi f y? 

I don ' t want to tes t ify . I don't ,,,,an t to be here . 

The p rosecution has done more harm t o me i n my life than 

a ny thi ng eve r, and I tol d t hem t hat . 

Q. So do you fee l l i ke t he only t hrea ts you received 

a bout t esti f ying came from t he prosecu tion? 
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A. Sure . I mean, i f you want to call it a threat . 

It 's just, nobody is l istening to me. 

Q. 

A. 

Wha t else would you l i ke to say? 

That I'm not a victim. That t his is a l l 

ridiculo us. 'l'hat t he prosecution has t aken something that's 

small and made i t somet hing huge, and i t's damagi ng my l ife 

as well as his , a nd it should have s toppe d a l ong time ago. 

Q. I s there a nything else t hat you t hink i s important? 

A. No . 

MS. SEAGO: I have no other ques t ions tor you. 

THE COURT: Okay. Thank yo u. 

MS. HAUGER : No more questions, Your Honor . 

'l' HE COURT: All r ight . You can step down . 

Do you have another quash, Ms. Hauger'! 

MS. HAUGER: Yes, Your Honor. 

THE COURT : We will take a short r ecess . Do you 

have a ny other wi tnesses r eady? 

witness . 

MS . IIAUGER: Yes , Your Honor . 

(Recess t aken from 2 : 38 p .m. t o 2: 53 p.m.) 

THE COURT : Please be seated. Call your next 

MS. HAUGER: Your Honor, t he State would cal l 

Offi cer Steve Pigman to the stand . 

THE COURT: Go ahead and have a seat . Can you 

ha nd me t hat e xhibit? 
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STEVEN PIGMAN , 

havi ng been called as a witness by t he 

Plai ntif f, being f irst duly s worn, was examined and 

testi f ied as fol l ows : 

DIRE:C:T EXAM INATION 

BY MS. HAUGER : 

Good a fternoon , s i r . 

Good afternoon, ma ' an1. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. State your name f or t he r ecord and spel l your l ast 

name , please. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

Steven James Pi gman, P-i-g- m- a-n . 

Off ice r Pigman, how a re yo u employed·, 

I ' m a poli ce officer with the Puya l l up Poli ce 

Departmen t . 

Q. How l ong have you worked for the Puya l lup Poli ce 

Departmen t? 

A. 36 years. I t wi ll be 37 . 

Q . 36 year s . Prior to comi ng to t he Puyall up Police 

Depa r tment , did you have any o t her law enfo rcement 

. • ? e xperience . 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

I s pent five and a hal f years i n Surrmer . 

I ' m sorry . Five and a hal : years witn who? 

Surcmer. 

THE COURT: You can t :1ke your mask off . ~le' re a l l 
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recorded. 

THE DEF'ENDANT: I understand that , Your Honor. 

THE COURT: Anything you speak here in this courtroom 

could be used agains t you in f uture proceedings. Do you 

understand that? 

THE DEFENDAN'r : I am aware of that, sir . 

THE COURT : Okay . With your Counsel's permission, you 

can address the Court briefl y. 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes , sir. I appreciate that . Thank you 

very much. 

Your Honor, I would just like to make a note t hat my -­

unfortunatel y, my -- my attorne y, Ms. Seago, has been 

ineffecti vel y representing me as my attorney . She has 

failed to call me, Your Honor. I know that my people have 

been -- witness character statements on my beha l f , Your 

Honor , and Ms. Seago has not returned t heir phone cal ls, or 

accep~ed my character witness s t atement s. 

Al so , Your Honor, you know, the -- the prosecuti on's 

case is speculation a nd suspicion at best, Your Honor . The 

pros unl ess they have any s uffic i e n t evidence t hat they 

can introduce th.,t they have contact wi th the a l leged victi m 

in my case , or the witnesses , t hen r have no objection to 

to -- lb1stt.. J: would ..like t o,..ask"- for di"smissal-.of-'t~js cas~ , 

Your Honor, f or this Honorable Court to dismiss my case 

based on prej udi ce. 

Colloquy - January 12, 2021 8 
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And I' d like to make note that I d i d -- I went t o 

because I don't trust my attorney, unfortunately, Your 

Honor, but I have s tuff t hat I ' d l ike t o file with the court 

for today on the record . Basically, we.J..l.-, my GOJTJ:'Iice-i.,i-tA 

tounsel, Your Honor, and <my spe-edy tEialinights -t"hat: ..r_ 

e ssexted.,J:iack on October ~ ;'>basi cally that I have 

witnesses on my behalf, on t h.i. s case , but Ms . Seago would 

not know that and tel l t he Court that because she hasn 't 

done -- like I said, refusing t o test -- or work with me on 

my case . 

So -- but , yeah, I sent this, and I have proof that 

this has been sent , Your Honor , ct:ha t:-- I ha'\Celt wit.nesses on.::my 

bel'lal'.f th~ft would give t.est.\.mon)'....toc a on .JllY_beh.alf 

THE COURT : Al l right . 

THE DEFE NDANT: -- and not -- the y're not 

[indisce r n i ble ) because they a r e out of state 

THE COURT : Okay. 

THE DEFENDANT: so , I mean, basically, Your Honor, 

I've been having to do this case on my own, unfortunately. 

And I just appreciat e your consideration on t his matter and 

the -- I would ask for d i smissal o f this case based on 

prejudi ce , again . 

THE COURT : A:t. 'eh"is..t,,ime t he motion to d,ismi ss is" 

~ er1ied. That~ oe-sn' t '"IDea-n tha:t .,it,, cou ~ be br-0ught a.J. ) 

some lat er point, !:5ut a'1:; t.l:l1-,5 p.Qin-e=;:Lt-is not: t5l:'I t.h:e doc.ke:t. 

Coll oquy - January 12 , 2021 9 
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JN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 

DIVISION II 

STATE OF WASHINGTON, No. 5592&-5-I I 
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v. UNPUBLISHED OPINION 

MICHAEL PATRICK FRAZER, 
AKA JUSTIN EUGENE FRA7.FR 

Ml Cl IA.EL FRAZER, 
MICHAF.I. P. FR.AZER, 

Appel lant. 

MAXA, J. - tvtichacl Frazer appeals his convictions o r second deg:l'ee assault, felony 

harassment, and nine counts of a no-contact order violation. The convictions arose from an 

incident in which Frazer's girlfriend_, Keri Conrady, jumped out of a vehicle that Frazer was 

driving and ran to a stranger's vehicle. Conrady made statements to various people that Frazer 

had held a knife to her throat and had threatened to kill her. Al trial, Conrady recanted her 

previous statements. The trial court allowed two law en tbrcement officers and a vic1i111 advocate 

10 Lesti fy about out-of-coun statements Conrady made to them. 

At arraignment, the trial cou1t had issued a no-contact order preventing Frazer from 

contucting Conrady. Frazer made multiple telephone ca lls to Conrady Ii-om jail. 

W~ hojg !Jtat El) Ernz-er.cannet cstablislfindl'ective assisl.llnce ofcmmsel based 011_ 

cJeleJ1se counser s failure t-0 ob_j£cuo the lestimony of tli<Hwo o1 licers and the victim aavocale 
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regarding Conracly's out-ot~court statements or LC.I the prosecutor's aggressive examination of 

Conrady; (2) there was sufficient evidence to prove that Frai.er had knowledge of the no-contact 

order and therefore that he wil lfully violated the no-contact order; and (3) Frazer's challenges to 

his convictions and his sentence in hi s state.menl of additional grounds (SAG) cannot be 

considered because they rely on allegations outside the record, were addressed in appellate 

counsel's brief, or have no merit. 

According ly, we affirm Fra1.er's convictions of second degree assault, felony harnssmcnt, 

and nine counts of a no-contact order violation and his sentence. 

FACTS 

Background 

Frazer was Conrady's boyfriend. At approximately 4:00 AM on September 28, 2020, 

Frazer was driving and Conrady was in the passenger seat of her car. They were southbound on 

State Route 7 in Elbe. Douglas Anderson was approaching from the opposite direction when the 

car Frazer was driving swerved into Anderson's lane or travel and hit the curb. Conrady jumped 

out of the car, screaming and hysteric,al, and ran to Anderson's vehicle. Conrady told Anderson 

that her boyfriend was taking her to the hills to ki ll her and that he had a kni te. Conrady was 

visibly upset, crying and shaking. 

Wh ile Anderson was trying to call 911 , he let Conrady into his vehicle as Frazer drove 

away. Conrady became hysterical again when she saw Frazer driving hack toward them. 

Anderson drove away at a high rate of speed and Frazer chased them down the highway. 1\l'ter a 

mile or two, Anderson hit the brakes on his car and Prazer drove past him. Conrady was 

hysterica l and crying during the chase. 

2 
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During this time, Anderson had ongoing discussions with the 91 l operator and Conrady 

spoke to the operator as well. Anderson and Conrady drove to a nearby 11re station to wait for 

(he police and an ambulance to arrive. Conrady remained extremely nervous as they waited and 

tensed up every time she saw a car approaching. 

Pierce County Sheriff's Deputy Alexander Arandt received a call regard ing the incident 

at approximately 4: I 7 /\Mand drove to the fire station. Brandt spoke with Conrady, who was 

very upset and was sobbing, shaking, and !'earful. After Brandt fin ished speaking with Conrady, 

she was taken Lo Good Samari tan Hospital. 

Deputy Emily [lolznagel arrived at Good Samaritan I lospital around 6:00 /\M. She talked 

to Conrady in the emergency room about the events that had occurred earl ier that morning. 

Conrady was upset and withdrawn, and brnke down crying twice when telling her story. 

Conrady's face was swollen and bruised and Holznagel photographed Conrady's injuries. 

Frazer was arrested later that day. The State charged him with lirsl degree kidnapping, 

second degree assault. felony harassment, and then of' a motor vehicle. 

No-Contact Order 

At arraignment, the trial cou1t issued a domestic violence no-contact order under chapter 

10.99 RCW that prohibited Frazer from having any contact with Conrady, including by phone, 

for live years beginn ing on September 29, 2020. The order included the typed sentence, ''Done 

in Open Court in the presence of the Defendant: September 2,9, 2020.'1 Clerk's Papers (CP) at 8. 

The trial court electronically signed the order, and Frazer' s signature line included the fo llowing: 

"Defendant unable to sign: covid 19." CP at 8. The no-contact order was filed in open court. 

While Frazer was in jai l pending the start or trial, he cal led Conrady several times, once 

through his own inmate pin number and the rest through other inmates' pin numbers. In one 
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phone cal I, Conrndy and Frazer discussed whether Conrady could put money into Frazer' s 

account at jail. The following exchange occurred: 

Fn1zer: Yeah, why could -why wouldn't you? 
Conrady: Okay- I don't know, 'cause there's a no-contact order? 
Frai er: No. 
Conrady: I probably shouldn' t have said that. 

Ex. 2 (Jan. 24, 2021 recording at 3:45). Conrady also said in another phone cal l that she had 

jumped out of a moving vehicle as a result of what Frazer had done to her and confronted him 

about what had occurred. 

In February 2021, the State fi led an amended information to include nine counts of 

violation of a no-contact order and one count oftampcring with a witness. 

Bench Trial 

Several witnesses testified ,tt the bench trial, including Conrady, Anderson, Brnndt and 

Katie Daugherty, a victim advocate with the prosecutor's oflic.e. Frazer did not testify. The trial 

court admitted as exhibits two 91 I phone calls from September 28, 13 jail phone calls Frazer 

made to Conrady, and the no-contact order. 

Conrady 's Testimony 

Conrady fai led to appear for trial and the tri al court issued a material witness warrant. 

The following day, Holznagel located Conrady and brought her to court. 

Two hours before her in-court testimony, Conrady spoke wi th the prosecutor and defense 

counsel outside of the courtroom about the events that occurred on September 28. Victi m 

advocate Daugherty was present during the interview. Conrady said that she remembered the 

incident very clearl y and proceeded to describe what bad happened to her. 

On direct-examination, Conrady generally testified th11t she had been in the car with 

Frazer off and on the evening before the incident and into the early morning hours, that she 

4 



No. 55928-5-TI 

jumped out of the car Frazer was driv ing and into Anderson 's vehicle, and that she ended up at 

Good Samaritan Hospital. However, she denied or claimed she diclnonemcmeerrraz:et.11oldiogt 

her at .kni fepointand threatening to lake her to the woods to kill lier. Conrady also stated that slre 

did not remember if Frazer said that he would slice her from her vagina to her face. even though 

~be acknowledged that she might fiave told counsel that a Jew l1ours earl ier. Because of 

Conrady's refusal to answer several questions, the trial court gave some latitude to the Stale lo 

treat her as a hostile witness. 

During Conrady's testimony, the State played recordings of the two 911 calls. In the first 

91 J cal l, Am.lerson told the operator that a car swerved in front of him and that a women jumped 

out of the car. He staled that the woman told him that her ex-boyfriend had threatened her and 

gunch.11:d hQr •an,d that the woman was,now in his car. 

In the second 9 11 phone cal l, Cpnrady told the operator that she was in the driveway of 

her house when Frazer put a knife to her throat. She-said that Fnizertold her to back out of the 

driveway or else he would stab her in the throat. She stated that they drove around for a while 

and he punched her in the face and grabbed her by her hair. Conrady acknowledged that she 

made these statements. 

On cross-examination, Conrady testified that she was (m~ethamphetamlne daring the 

incident and that it made her paranoid. As a result, she testi fied that she exagge.ratcd what had 

\ happened t o I~ 

Anderson's Testimony 

Anderson testified to the facts of the incident stared above, including how obviously 

upset and hysterical Conrady was while they were together. 
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Dt1puly Brandt 's Testimony 

Brandt testi fied that when he arrived at the lire station, Conrady appeared very upset and 

was sobbing and shaking. She was fearful and distraught. Brandt stated that he had to calm 

Conrady down a few times because of how worked up and upset she was. 

Brandt testi lied that Conrady told him that Frazer had forced her in to her car while armed 

with a kni le and that he was driving her deep in to the woods to a special place where he would 

dump her body after she was killed. Conrady immediately began crying again after she told him 

that Frazer had held the knifo to her throat. llrandt testified that Conrady's behavior was 

consistent with someone who had just been through a traumatic experience. 

Deputy l-lolznagel ·s Testimony 

1-Tolznagel testi fied that Conrady was upset, quiet and withd rawn when she spoke with 

her at Good Samaritan Hospital. Conrady was extremely exhausted, crying, and fearful. 

Holznagel stated that Conrady broke dom1 into tears twice as she talked about the incident. 

Specilically, Conrady began crying al one poim as she said she was not supposed to make it out 

ol' lhe car alive and that Anderson had saved her life. And Conrady said that she was afraid of 

Frazer's associates, stating that they wou ld 111111 her if Frazer ended up in jai l or if she gave a 

written statement. Based on her observations, Ilolznagel bel ieved that Conrady was still affected 

by what had happened to her. 

Holznagcl recounted the events of the night as told to her by Conrady. Conrady told her 

that while sitting in her car in her driveway, Frazer held a knife to her neck and lo her temple. 

Comady drew a picture of the knife, which was admitted as an exhibit. Conrady stated that 

Frazer sa id he would sink the ku ife into her throat unless she backed out of the driveway. 
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l-lolznagel testified that Conrady told her that eventual ly Frazer began driv ing them 

around and said he was taking her LO a place in the woods. Frazer continued to ho ld a knife to 

Conrady and punch her in the face. Frazer told her that in the woods he was going to tie her up 

and kill her. Conrady also said that Frazer stated fi ve times lhal he would sl ice her from her 

vagina to her throat. 

Daugherty's Tes1irnony 

Daugherty testified that she was present when Conrady talked to defon~e counsel before 

her in-court testimony. Daugherty recounted how Conrady dcscrihed driving around with Frazer 

and then jumping out of the car and runn ing to another vehicle. Oaugberry testified that Conrady 

said that Frazer had a knife and told her he was going to cut her from her vagina to her face. 

Closing Argumem 

During closing argument, Frazer emphasized that Conrady's inconsistent statement$ were 

due to the tact that she had been under the influence of methamphctamine during the incident. 

Frazer also argued that the prosecutor was not able to contro l Conrady on the stantl and make her 

say what Lhe prosecutor wanted her to say. And Frazer argued that there was no way to prove 

that he physically was present when the trial court had entered the no-contact order. 

The State argued i·n rebuttal that the trial court could take j~1dicial notice of the covm. 

I? processes and proeed u re,5 during ari:aignmenL and in issui ng.,110-cqntact _grders. 

Trial Court Ruling 

The trial court liiund Frazer guilty of second degree assau lt, felony harassment, and nine 

counts of a no-contact order violation. The court found F'ra7.er not gu ilty of first degree 

kidnapping, thell of a motor vehicle, and witness tampering. The court entered detailed find ings 

of fact, which were substantially the same as its oral ruling. 
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The trial court found that the no-contact order speci fical ly prohibited any contact by any 

means between Frazer and Conrady. The court found, 

Because of COVID-19 concerns over cross-contamination, the stylus that had been 
previously used in the arraignment court was removed and Lhe practice was for the 
defense attorney to type in the defendant's name and that Lhe defendant was unable 
to sign due to COVID-19. The order specifically says that it was done in open court 
in the presence of the defendant on September 29, 2020. 

CP at 136. As a result, the C(>urL entered a finding of fact that Frazer had knowledge of Lhe 

existence of the no-contact order. 

Frazer appeals his convictions of second degree ass,1ult, l'elony harassment, and nine 

counts of vio lation of a no-contact order and his sentence. 

ANA LYSIS 

A. INIWFECTIVE ASSISTANClj OF COUNSEL 

Frazer argues that deliense counsel was ineffective for failing to object to ( I) Brandt's, 

llolznagel's and Daugherty's testimony recounting Conrady's out-ol~courl statements and (2) the 

prosecutor's aggressive examination of Conrady at trial. We disagree. 

I. Legal Principles 

The Sixth Amendment to the United States ConsliLution and article I, section 22 of Lhe 

Washington Constitution guarantee criminal defendants the right to el'l'ective a5sistance of 

counsel. State v. Estes, 188 Wn.2d 450, 457, 395 P.3d I 045(20 17). We review de nova 

ineffective assistance of counsel claims. Id. 

To prevail on an ineffective ass istance of counsel daim, a defendant must show that 

defense counsel's performance was deficient, and the defi cient performance prejudiced the 

defendant. ld. at 457-58. Representation is deficient ii; after considering all the circumstances, 

it fa ll s below an objective standard of reasonablcncss. Id. at 458. Prejudice exists if there is a 

8 



No. 55928-5-IJ 

reasonable probability that, except for defenstl counsel's error, the result of the proceeding would 

have been different. ld. A failure to show either deficient performance or prejudice defeats an 

ineffective assistance claim. State v. Davis, 17 Wn. App. 2d 264, 274,486 P.3d 136, review 

denied, 198 Wn.2d 1008 (2021). 

Counsel 's decision whether and when to object to tria l testimony general ly falls with in 

the scope of trial tactics. State v. Bass, 18 Wn. App. 2d 760, 793, 491 P.3d 988 (202 l ), review 

denied, 198 Wn.2d 1034 (2022). And trial counsel's conduct is not delicienL il'it can be 

characteri:r.ed as legitimate trial strategy or tactics. Estes. 188 Wn.2d at 458. " 'Only in 

egregious circumstances, on testimony central to the State's case, will the fail ure to object 

constitute incompetence of counsel justifying reversal. ' " State v. Johnston, 143 Wn. App. I, 19, 

177 r .3d 11 27 (2007) (quoting State v. /1,fadison, 53 Wn. App. 754, 763, 770 P.2d 662 (1989)). 

Further, if a challenge to the admissib ility of evidence would have foi led, then an ineffective 

assistance of counsel claim cannot succeed. State v. Nichols, 161 Wn.2c.l I, 14- l5, l62 P.3d 

1122 (2007). 

2. Statements made to Rrandl and I lolznagel 

Frazer argues that the tri al court would have sustained defense counsel' s objections Lo 

IJrandt's and Holznagel's testimony regarding Conrady's statements to them. We disagree 

because the F,R 803(a)(2) excited utterance hearsay exc.eption applied to this testimony. 

a. Excited Utterance Hearsay Exceplio/1 

"Hearsay" is an out-of-cou1t statement "offered in evidence lo prove the truth of the 

matter asserted." ER 80 I (c). Hearsay evidence generally is not admissible un less it lalls within 

a recognized exception to the hearsay rule. ER 802. 
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ER 803(a)(2) provides a hearsay exception lc>r statements "relating to a startling event or 

coiidition made while the declarant was under the stress of' excitement caused by the event or 

condition." The exception is based on the assumption that statements made while a person is 

under the stress of' an exciting event will be spontaneous rather than based on rellection or self­

intcrest, and therefore are more likely to be true. See Slate v. Chapin, 118 Wn.2d 68 1, 686, 826 

P.2d 194 {1992). "[T]hc key determination is whether the statement was made while the 

declaran t was still under the in fluence of the event to the extent that the statement could 11 01 be 

the resu lt of fabrication, intervening actions, or the exercise of choice or judgment." State v. 

Woods, 143 Wn.2d 561,597, 23 P.3d 1046 (2001). 

For the excited utterance exception to apply, the declarant's statement must meet three 

requirements: "(I) a startl ing event or condition occurred, (2) the declarant made the statement 

while under the stress of excitement of the startling event or condition, and (3) the statement 

related to the startling event or condition." State v. Ohlson, 162 Wn.2d I, 8, 168 P.3d 1273 

(2007). The first two clements may be established by evidence extrinsic to the dcclarant' s plain 

words "such as the declarant's behavior, appearance, and condition; appraisals of the declaranl 

by others; and the circumstances under which the statement is made." Stale v. Young, 160 

Wn.2d 799, 809-10, 16 1 P.3d 967 (2007). 

When assessing whether a statement qualifies as an excited ut.terancc, we may refer to 

relevant !'actors such as the statement's spontaneity, the passage of time, the declarant's 

emotional state, and the declarant' s opportunity Lo reflect or fabricate a story. Stare v. 

Williamson, 100 Wn. App. 248,258,996 P.2d 1097 (2000). However, the passage of time alone 

docs not control. Id. In addition, the declarant's later recantation of an earlier statement does not 

disquali fy the statement as an excited ulferancc. Id. 
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b. Statements to Brandt 

Conrady experienced a startling event. Frazer held a knife to her throat and said that he 

was going to kill her. Frazer was driving to a place where he told Conrady he was going to kill 

her and dump her body. Conrady jumped ouL of' Lhe vehicle and ran screaming toward 

Anderson's vehicle, and then became hysterical aga in as Frazer chased Anderson down the 

highway. 

f.11 addition, Conrady still was under the stress of excitement From the incident when she 

talked to Brandt. Brandt received a report regarding the incident less than 20 minutes after 

Anderson first called 911 and talked to Conrady shortly thereafter. Conrady was very upset and 

distraught, and she was sobbing, shaking, and tearful. Brandt testified that Conrady began 

crying after she to ld him that Frazer held a kn i Fe against or next to her throat. 

Based on these facts, Conrady's statements to Brandt constituted exc-ited utterances under 

ER 803(a)(2). Therefore, defense counsel's fai lure 10 object to Brandt's testimony was nm 

deficient perfonnance because her objection would have been overruled. Frazer'$ ineffective 

assistance of counsel claim on this basis fails. 

c. Statements to Holznagel 

[lolznagel did not. speak with Conrady unti l approximately Lwo hour$ after the incident. 

Therefore, the question is whether Conrady stil l was under the stress of excitement from the 

incident when she made the statements to Ilolznagcl. 

Conrady was upset when Holznagel talked with her. She was extremely exhausted, 

crying. and fearfo l. Conrady broke down into tears twice as she descri bed the incident, and she 

told Holznagel that she was not supposed LO make it out of the car alive and that Anderson had 

saved her life. Further, Conrady remained fearfu l of what Frazer's associates would do to her if 
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she provided a written stalemenl. Rased on her observations, I tolznagel believed that Conrady 

still was affected by what had happened to her when they tal ked. Therefore, we conclude that 

the two hour passage of'tin,e. did not dampen the effects of Frazer's threats and actions on 

Conrady. 

Frazer relics on State v. Brown, 127 Wn.2d 749, 758, 903 P.2d 459 (1995); Stale v. 

Hochhalter, l '.\I Wn. App. 506, 514, 128 P.3d I 04 (2006); Stale v. Sellers, 39 Wn. A.pp. 799, 

804, 695 P.2d IO 14 ( 1985); and Stale v. lJixon, 37 Wn. App. 867, 873-74, 684 P.2d 725 ( 1984) 

to argue that Conrady's demeanor was insufficient to support the argument that her statements to 

Holznagel were excited utterances, especially in light of all the detai ls she provided. But Brown 

and Hochhalter are distinguishable because the declarants there contemplated what they should 

say about the incident at isSLLe and decided to fabricate or omit ce11ain detai ls. Brown, 127 

Wn.2d at 757-58; Hochhalter, 131 Wn. App. at 510. And Seller.,· and Dixon are distingu ishable 

because the declarants there added specific detai ls !hat were not included in earlier statement5. 

Sellers, 39 Wn. App. at 804-05; Dixon, 37 Wn. App. at 873-74. Similar facts arc not present 

here. 

Accordingly, we conclude that the two hour passage of time did not render the ER 

803(a)(2) excited utterance exception inapplicable to Conrady's statements to Holznagel. 

Therefore, defense counsel's fai lure lo object to 13randt's testimony was not deficient 

performance because her objection would have been overruled. Frazer's inel'foctive assistance of 

counsel claim on th is ba5is fails.' 

1 Even if the trial court would have sustained an objection from defense counsel ror inadmissible 
hearsay under the excited utterance hearsay exception, Fraier c,1nnot establ ish prejudice in light 
of all the other evidence in the record about what occurred. 
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3. Daugherty's Testimony 

Frazer cla ims that defense counsel was inenective for not objecting to Daugherty's 

testimony about Conrady's OUL-o(:courl statements. We disagree. 

!Jn<ler ER 6 l3(b), a party may introduce extrinsic evidence or a witness's prior 

inconsistent statement if the witness is given an opportunity Lo explain or deny the statement and 

the opposite party is given an opportunity to inten-ogate the witness about the statement, or the 

interests of justice otherwbe require. Such evidence is not probative of the substantive facts, but 

it is impeachment evidence affecting the witness's credibil ity. Stale v. Clinkenbeard, 130 Wn. 

App. 552,569, 123 P.3d 872 (2005). 

Here, Conrady was asked about the prior statements that Frazer had a knife and that he 

to ld Conrady that he would slit her from her vagina to her face. She either denied or stated that 

she did not remember making those statements. There l'lwe, the State was allowed under ER 

6 I 3(b) to introduce the testimony of Daugherty about Conrady' s prior inconsistent statements 

regarding those matters for impeachment purposes. 

Frazer acknowledges that Daugherty's testimony may have been admissible for 

impeachment purposes under ER 6 I 3(b), but he claims that defense counsel still should have 

objected to emphas i7,e to the trial court that Conrady's statements should not be admitted as 

substantive evidence. But in a bench trial, the trial court certainly was able to distinguish 

between impeachment evidence and substantive evidence without being reminded by defense 

counsel. 

Frazer suggests that Daughe1ty's testimony was not used only for impeachment purposes. 

But the record does not show that the State or tria l court relied on Daugherty' s testimony as 

substantive evidence. During c losing argument, the prosecutor repeatedly highl ighted the 
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differences between the statements Conrady made in court compared to the statements she made 

in front of Daugherty and others, presumably to attack Co11rady's credibility. In addiiion, the 

trial court made no reference to Daugherty's testimony in its oral or ,~Titten find ings. Therefore, 

it would be speculative to assume that Daugherty's testimony was used lc1r anything but 

impeachment purposes. 

Accordi11gly, we hold that defense counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to 

Oaugherty' s testi mony about Conrady's out-or-court statements. Frazer's ineffective assistanc.e 

of counsel claim on this basis fails. 

4. Prosecutor's Exm11inal.ion of Conrady 

Frazer argues that defense counsel provided ineffective assistance by fai ling to object 

during the prosecutor's somewhat hostile and aggressive examination of Conrady, which 

ultimately undennined her credibility. He claims that defense counsel had a duty to protect 

Conrady from the prosecutor's style of questioning and to keep her calm and composed as part of 

his defense. We disagree. 

Defense counsel's fai lure Lo object during Conrady's testimony may have been strategic. 

Defense counsel's theory throughout trial was that Conrady was high on methamphetamine and 

was paranoid when she initially told Anderson, Brandt and Holznagel an ex11ggerated story about 

Frazer assaulting her and threatening to kill her. Defense counsel's legal strategy appeared to 

rest on the argument that the trial court should believe Conrady' s in-court testimony recanting 

her previous statements because she only made those statements under the influence of drugs. 

Defense counsel highlighted the fact that Conrady had to be forced to testify against her wi ll and 

that when she did testify, she adamantly den ied being a domestic vio lence victim despite the 

prosecutor's attempts to elicit favorable, consistent testimony. 
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During closing argument, defense counsel framed the prosecutor's examination of 

Conrady as a hostile attempt to manipulate her into repeating a false narrative of the incident and 

her alleged fear of Frazer after exiting his car. Therefore, it was not un reasonable for defense 

counsel to refrain from o~jccting du ring the prosecutor's examination of Conrady to allow the 

tension between the prosecutor and Conrady to speak for itself and bolster the defense theory 

that Conrady's methamphctaminc use and paranoia caused her to give fa lse statements to 

Anderson, Brandt, and llolznagel. 

i\ccordingly, we ho ld that defense counsel was not ineffective for fail ing to object during 

the prosecutor's examination of Conrady. Frazer's ineffective ass istance of counsel claim on this 

basis fai ls. 

,13. Sl,FFICI ENCY 01' Ill r:-Ev IDF.NC'E~ V IOI,/\ TION~' ()F·No:1,:{)NJ',:.\Gt.QRD.£li_ 

Frazer argues th,1t there is insufficient ev idence to ~uppo.rt the trial court's find ing of fact 

that he had knowledge of the no-contact order prohibiting contact with Conrady when he made 

phone calls to her from jai l. We disagree. 

J. Standard of Review 

The test ll1r determining sufficiency of evidence is whether any rational trier of fact could 

find all the clements of the charged crime beyond a reasonable doubt after viewing the evidence 

in a light mo~L favorable to the State. State v. Dreewe.,, 192 Wn.2d 812,821,432 P.Jd 795 

(2019). For a bench tria l, "appellate review is limited LO determining whether substantial 

evidence supports the findings of fact and, if so. whether the l111dings support the conclusions or 

law." State v. Homan, 18 1 Wn.2d 102, 105-06, 330 P.3d 182 (2014). We resolve all reasonable 

inferences based on tl1e evidence in favor of the State and interpret inferences most strongly 

against the defendant. Dreewes, 192 Wn.2d at 821 -22. And wc defer to the fact finder's 
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resolu tion of confl icting testimony and evaluation of the evidence's persuas iveness. Homan, 181 

Wn.2d at 106. 

2. Analysis 

The trial court entered the no-contact order against !'razer under chapter I 0.99 RCW. 

Former RCW I0.99.040(3)(a) (2019) authorizes the trial court to issue a domestic vio lence no­

contact order at the arruigmnent of a person charged with a crime involving domestic violence. 

Former RCW l0.99.040(4)(a) provides that a "[w]illful vio lation" ora no-contact order issued 

under subsection (3) of this section is punishable as a crime. An essential element of the crime 

ofwilll"ul violation ofa no-contact order is the defendanL's knowledge of the no-contact order. 

State v. Briggs, 18 Wn. App. 2d 544,550,492 P.Jd 2 18 (2021). A person acts knowingly if 

"[h)e or she is aware of a fact, facts, or circumstances or result described by a statute defining an 

offense." RCW 9A .08.0 I 0(l)(b)(i). 

I (ere, the no-contact order states, "Done in Open Court in the presence of the Defendant." 

CP at 8. The no-contact order was entered as an exhibit at trial. The evidence that the no­

contact order was entered in Pra7,er's presence is sufficient It) e~tablish that he had knowledge of 

the no-contact order. 

Frazer claims that the no-contact order was inadmissible hearsay and could not be offered 

as proof that Fra;,;er physically appeared in court or had knowledge of the no-contact order. 

However, Frazer did not object to the admission of the no-contact order on hearsay grounds. In 

addition, RCW 5.44.010 provides that "[t]he records and proceedings ofm1y court of the United 

States ... are admissible in evidence in all cases in this state when duly certified by the 

attestation of the clerk." (Emphasis added); see State v. 1 !ubbard, 169 Wn. App. 182, 187, 279 

P.Jd 52 1 (201 2). The no-contact order entered into evidence was attested by the court clerk. 
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Further, the record suppo1ts the trial court's linding based on the 1:3 phonc-:calls madc-t0A 

Conrady while Frazer was in.jail. Each ol'tho~e phone calls, with the exception of one, was 

made 'from an inmate account other than Frazer's. Holznagel ,ilso testified that she recognized 

Frazer's and Conrady's voices on 12 of the phone calls, and that one phone ca ll was made from a 

third party calling Conrady on Frazer's behalf: And Conrady referenced the no-contact order 

when Frazer cal led her on January 24, 202 1. When viewed in the light most favorable to the 

State, the 13 phone calls show that Frazer attempted to conc-eal his conversations with Conrady 

because he knew he was prohibited from calling Conrady because of the no-contact order.2 

We hold that sufficient evidence supports the trial comt 's fi nding of faet that Frazer had 

knowledge of the domestic violence no-contact order. 

C. SAG CLt1:Cb • 

Frazer makes a number of assertions in his SAG. Wc.declinc.to.addrcs,-or r:aject these-

asscrtio lS. 

I. Ineffective Assistance of Counsel 

First, Frazer assetts that defense counsel was ineffecti ve lc)r (I) creating a total loss of 

communication with him. (2) having several conll ict of interest issues that undermined her duty 

of loyalty to him, (3) advising him lo not testi fy despite his desire 10 testify, and (4) not call ing a 

particular witness at trial. He requests that we remand for an evidcntiary hearing lo create a new 

record to address his assertions. Howe.ver,..ru:causc these claims.rc1Y-oif.Jnat1ers outSide{he 

2 Frazer also argues that the trial court erred in taking j ud icial notice oi'COVID-19 protocols in 
Pierce County Superior Court regarding defendants· signatures on court orders. However. trial 
courts may take judicial nm ice of adjud icati ve !acts. ER 20 l(a); S1aie v. N.B., 7 Wn. App. 2d 
83 I. 835, 436 P .3d 358 (2019). The trial court here could take judicial notice that courts in 
Pierce County had adopted policies t:o reduce the risk or infection for individuals who were still 
appearing in-person, such as el iminating communally used pens. 
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record, we cannot consider them in this direct appea l. State v. Alvarado, 164 Wn.2d 556, 569, 

192 P.3d 345 (2008). Instead, they must be raised in a personal restraint petition. ld. 

Second, Frazer asserts that defense counsel was ineffective for failing to (I) fi le several 

of his motions and lct1ers and (2) call a witness. However, Frazer does not identify the motions 

that were not filed or describe the witnesses ' expected testimony. Therefore, we do not consider 

this assertion because it does not inform us of the nature of the alleged errors. RAP I 0. I O(c). 

Third, Frazer asserts that defense counsel was ineffective for failing to object to 

inadmissible hearsay evidence regard ing Brnndt's, Hol;:nagel's, and Daugherty's testimony. 

These arguments were raised in appellate counsel's brief and are addressed above. Accordingly, 

we need not consider them further. 

Fourth, Frazer asserts that defense counsel was inertective for fo iling to object co the no­

contact order for lack of notice and vagueness. ilut the no-contact order clearly stated that 

Frazer was prohibited from contacting Conrady through any means beginning on September 29, 

2020 for a period of five years. Therefore, we reject this assertion. 

2. Sentence 

Frazer asserts that he received an exceptional sentence that was excessive. However, the 

record shows that Frazer received a standard range sentence. Generally, standard range 

$Cntences are not appealable. RCW 9.94A.585( I). Nor does Frazer argue that the process by 

which the trial court imposed his sentence was erroneous. Therefore, we reject this assertion. 

Frazer also makes a relerence lO double jeopardy. Uut we do not consider this assertion 

because it docs not inform us of the nature of the al leged error. RJ\P I 0.1 O(c). 
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3. Conra<ly's Testimony 

Prazer asserts that there is insufficient evidence to support his convictions because 

Conrady recan ted the prior statements she made to the police and Daugherty at trial. Rut \\ce do 

no t reweig!J testimony or credibil it)C_Qll appeal. See Homan, 181 Wn.2d at I 06. Therefore. we 

reject this assertion. 

CONCLUSION 

We aflinn Frazer's convictions of second degree assault, felony harassment, and nine 

counts of a 110-contact order violation and his sentence. 

A majority or the panel having determined that this opinion will not be printed in the 

Washington Appellate Reports, but wil l be filed lor public record in accordance with RCW 

2.06.040, it is so ordered. 

J, 

We concur: 
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